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We value your feedback on this report. Please send your queries and comments to: Reporting@mtc.com.na

Connect with us

An overview
of our 2019
integrated
report
Mobile Telecommunications Limited
(MTC) is pleased to present its first
integrated report which marks
the beginning of the company’s
integrated reporting journey. We
have based the 2019 report on the
foundations of integrated reporting
and will systematically improve our
reporting, guided by the International
Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC)
<IR> Framework.
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This report’s scope and boundary
MTC is a public company registered in terms of the Companies Act of Namibia, No 28 of 2004, as amended (Companies Act
of Namibia) and wholly owned by Namibia Post and Telecom Holdings Limited (NPTH), a government entity. MTC plans to
apply for a listing on the Namibian Stock Exchange (NSX) in 2020. This report is intended for our current and potential future
shareholders and other interested stakeholders. It covers the performance of MTC’s operations for the period 1 October 2018
to 30 September 2019 and includes relevant, material developments between 1 November 2019 and the date of publication.

Reporting frameworks
The following frameworks informed the preparation of this report:
Namibia Post and Telecom Holdings

100%

•

Companies Act of Namibia

•

Corporate Governance Code for Namibia (NamCode)

•

King Report on Corporate GovernanceTM for South Africa, 20161 (King IV)

•

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

MTC also considered selected elements of the IIRC <IR> Framework in the preparation of the report.

Forward-looking statements
Mobile Telecommunications Limited

100%

Jurgens
Thirty Four
Proprietary Limited

Windhoek
General Administrators
Proprietary Limited

100%

100%*

This report contains certain forward-looking statements on the results and operations of MTC. These are based on estimates
and assumptions made by MTC. Although MTC believes that these are reasonable, they are inherently uncertain and may not
eventuate. Factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied in those statements or assumptions include matters not yet known
to MTC or not currently considered material by MTC.
MTC does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any of its opinions or forward-looking statements, whether
to reflect new data or future events or circumstances. The financial information on which the forward-looking statements are
based has not been audited or reported on by MTC’s independent external auditors.

How MTC ensured the accuracy and completeness of this report
The 2019 integrated report was reviewed by each member of MTC’s Executive Committee (Exco), internal audit and the Audit,
Risk and IT Governance Committee, and then approved by the Board.

Stakeholders
Shareholder and potential shareholders
Employees
Customers
Distributors
Strategic partners
Regulators and local authorities
Media
Civil society
*

The Board has taken responsibility for ensuring the integrity and completeness of this report. With the support of the
Board committees, the Board assessed the content of the report and believes it fairly represents MTC’s performance and
prospects. The Board approved the 2019 integrated report on 23 March 2020.

			
Theofelus Mberirua		
Chairperson			

Dormant

1

2

Licky Erastus
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in South Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.

A snapshot
of MTC
MTC is the largest mobile
telecommunications operator in
Namibia, with over 2.5 million
active customers. For 25 years, MTC
has grown revenue and retained
customers by providing voice and data
services and solutions to postpaid
and prepaid individual and business
customers through its extensive
telecommunications transmission and
distribution network.
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From pioneer to market leader
As a wholly owned subsidiary of the Namibian government, and a dominant participant in Namibia’s telecommunications market, MTC is positioned to be a digital enabler of change. MTC’s
mobile network covers 97% of Namibia’s population and over 86% of Namibians have access to mobile broadband. We are committed to achieving 100% coverage of the Namibian population
and improving the lives of customers through innovative digital solutions that will enable us to be the best digital provider that meets customer expectations. Our commitments are being fulfilled
through our innovative digital solutions, the 081Every1 project, which is expanding MTC’s services to Namibians in remote rural areas, and our continued efforts to ensure our infrastructure
supports the needs of customers. MTC is a preferred employer and the most recognised communications brand in Namibia – nine out of 10 customers would recommend MTC to others
(Ipsos, 2019).

OUR VISION
To be the best digital enabler
that meets customer needs

1 million
OUR MISSION
To improve the lives of our
customers through innovative
digital solutions and highly
skilled human capital

500 000

100 000

WHAT WE VALUE
Integrity (trust, transparency)
Customer centricity

Subscriber numbers

•

MTC upgraded its 3G network to
higher speeds (2006)

•

MTC’s revenue doubled between
2006 and 2011

•

By 2011 MTC held 97% of market
share, 90% market penetration

Stakeholder inclusivity
Innovation

1998

2000

2001

2002

2006

2007

2008

1994 – 2004

2005 – 2011

MTC was established in 1994 in a joint venture between the Namibian government
(through NPTH which held a 51% majority) and two Swedish entities, Telia and
Swedfund.

In 2006 Portugal Telecom acquired a 34% shareholding in MTC. Portugal Telecom
(through its subsidiary Africatel) delivers fixed, mobile, multimedia, data and
corporate solutions.

In 2004, Swedfund and Telia sold their 49% shareholding to NPTH.

MTC’s initial strategy was based on providing mobile services (first wave of the
information era). The company realigned its strategy in response to growing demand
for web and ecommerce services during the internet era (second wave).
After 2006, the third wave heralded smart phones, mobile applications and
cloud services.
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2.5 million

2 million

1.5 million

2010

2011

2012

•

Internet penetration increased but mobile voice slowed down

•

4G LTE launched in Windhoek; extended to coast and north
in 2013

•

4G LTE roll-out required major investments to provide
additional bandwidth (West Africa Cable System (WACS))

•

Convergent offerings such as SmartShare boosted internet
and mobile services on customers’ phones

2013

2014

•

MTC was first to trial 4.5G in Africa
(2016)

•

In 2017, 081Every1 was launched,
MTC’s largest investment project
to date at a cost of N$1 billion

•

Launched cloud and fibre-to-the-x
(FTTX) (2018)

•

By 2019 MTC held an estimated
91% of mobile market share, with
estimated 111% (Communications
Regulatory Authority of Namibia
(CRAN) December 2018) market
penetration

•

MTC prepares to list on the NSX

2018

09/2019

12/2019

2012 – 2015

2016 – 2019

MTC maintained its market leadership position in
Namibia and was at the forefront of telecommunications
development. In 2012 MTC was the second operator in
Africa, after Angola, to launch 4G.

Oi Brazil acquired Portugal Telecom in 2017 and became Africatel’s controlling
shareholder. However, Samba DutchCo took control of the shareholding as Portugal
Telecom held MTC under a subsidiary, Samba DutchCo, and agreed to sell the
shares to NPTH. The shares were eventually transferred to NPTH subject to licence
conditions and MTC was once again a wholly owned subsidiary of NPTH.

To prepare for the anticipated growth in demand for
mobile data services, MTC invested USD15 million) in the
WACS in 2012 to ensure increased internet capacity and
connectivity for its business and customers.

Since 2016, MTC has invested in technology, systems and infrastructure to
deliver the 081Every1 project, cloud and FTTX solutions for individual
and business customers.
MTC is now an advanced Namibian entity, preparing to broaden
Namibian ownership of its shares.

2019 MTC Integrated
Annual Report
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MTC at a glance
Serviced by an extensive distribution network, 36 mobile homes, 29 dealerships (airtime sellers and distributors), 24-hour
contact centre and a network management and technical quality centre (immediate response to customer complaints)

156 000

31%

•

N$346

38 service plans, including Netman, Mobiz
and ShartShare packages

•

10 LTE data packages

•

15 Business solution packages

ARPU1
1

Average revenue per user per month.

ARPU (N$)
500
400

374

385

406

402

2015

2016

2017

2018

346

300
200
100

334 agreements
with roaming partner
networks across

146 countries

UNDERPINNED BY
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2019

26 of these networks

allow for prepaid roaming

9% of revenue

(handsets 5%, roaming 4%)

NEW REVENUE
STREAMS

ROAMING AND
HANDSETS

0

2.4

57%

•

Aweh Super

•

Aweh Prime

N$54

•

Aweh O’Yeah

•

Aweh Gig

million
subscribers
Innovative offerings

of revenue

PREPAID

POSTPAID

subscribers
45% businesses | 55% individual

customer

of revenue

ARPU

ARPU (N$)
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

49

51

51

52

54

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Digitally enabled value-added services
•

Content via web, SMS and other messaging technologies

•

Premium video content via smartphones and internet-enabled feature phones

Fixed services for businesses
•

Fibre to the office and home

•

Secure cloud and private branch exchange (PBX) hosted solutions

Fixed services projected to grow to 7% of revenue by 2021.

Our values, vision and strategy
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WHAT SETS MTC APART
•

A LEADER IN INNOVATION

Leading market position
91% mobile market share in Namibian telecommunications market

MTC has smart partnerships with industry leaders to keep up with technology and bring new
concepts and services to Namibia.

•	
Extensive transmission and distribution networks: 97% population coverage now
and 100% by 2021 as a shared commitment to increase access to all Namibians for social
and economic prosperity

The company’s position at the forefront of innovation is demonstrated by its track record as
the first to:

•	
Strong customer relationships
90% of customers would recommend MTC (Ipsos, 2019)

•

Establish a 24-hour contact centre in Namibia

•

Take to market a prepaid subscription service, bundling voice, SMS and data with its
seven-day Aweh offering

•

Commercially launch LTE in Africa

•

Successfully trial 4.5G technology in Africa

•

Launch commercial use of LTE-advanced (LTE-A) and 4.5GLTE in Africa

•

Deploy self-help kiosks or vending machines for its products and services

•

Foster a collaborative innovation drive with tertiary institutions and entrepreneurs

•	
Respected, fully Namibian Board, experienced executive team
and 632 employees serving 2.5 million customers
•	
Solid financial position allows nimble response to customer needs
>> No gearing, cash generative
>> Stable earnings
>> Strong shareholder returns

Return on equity (%)

Revenue (N$ million)

50

3 000

40

41.5

45.1

47.2

41.6

30

34.5

20

2 251

2 324

2 421

2 498

2 614

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

1 178

1 305

1 403

1 496

1 345

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2 000
1 000

10
0

2015

2016

2017

2018

0

2019

Dividends paid (N$ million)

EBITDA² (N$ million)

600
500
400
300
200
100
0

3 000

522

481

489

413

2 000

374
1 000

2015

2016

2017

2018

0

2019
2

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

Our people

UNDERPINNED BY
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How we
govern MTC
As we prepare to list MTC, we are
confident that the company’s
pioneering spirit and proven track
record of profitable growth will make
it a sustainable digital enabler of
change for all Namibians.
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Chairperson’s message
2019 tested MTC’s resilience to economic and market
challenges. The Namibian economy contracted for the second
consecutive year due to the global downturn, a damaging
regional drought and the slowdown in major domestic sectors.
The mobile communications market, our traditional revenue
source, reached saturation and we faced strong competition
in the new markets we entered to meet growing demand for
digital solutions.
Yet, I am delighted that despite these challenges, MTC retained
its valuable existing customer base, grew brand loyalty among
new customers and increased revenue and profit. We continue
to adapt to constant change in the telecommunications
industry and are within reach of attaining our 081Every1 vision
to provide digital access to all Namibians.
Since the exit of private shareholders who played a critical
role in supporting our financial and technology needs during
our pioneering years, we have transformed MTC into a fully
fledged Namibian business. We have a distinguished Board,
executives with 73 years of collective telecommunications
industry experience and 632 employees who serve our
2.5 million customers so well that MTC is officially the most
recognised communications brand in Namibia.

Listing MTC on the Namibian Stock
Exchange
As we approach another exciting historic milestone with the
planned listing of MTC’s shares on the NSX in 2020, we are
preparing for the role of a listed company.
The main purpose of the listing is to allow selected applicants
and members of the public to participate directly in the equity
growth and income streams of MTC.

Strengthening governance
The MTC Board is unreservedly committed to applying the
fundamental principles of good governance – transparency,
integrity, accountability and responsibility, and fairness – in
all dealings by, in respect of, and on behalf of, MTC.
Following the sale of privately held shares in MTC to NPTH, the
Board reassessed MTC’s governance and embarked on a twoyear journey in 2018 to enhance the fundamental principles
of good governance and prepare MTC for the planned listing.
During 2019 the Board completed the following key actions:
•

Approved each Board committee’s terms of reference to
assist the Board in its oversight responsibilities

•

Reviewed and updated the Board Charter to formalise
the delegation of authority between the shareholder
(NPTH), the Board and the Exco, which contributes,
to role clarity and effective exercise of authority and
responsibility

•

Reviewed and adopted a new business strategy in
June 2019

•

Reviewed commercial propositions to address specific
customer needs

•

Separated the roles of legal advisory and company
secretarial

•

Made progress in preparing the company for the listing,
while retaining business competitiveness

The Board also appointed a new Chief Commercial Officer
in November 2019 and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in
December 2019.
The Board regularly reviews risks and opportunities in
MTC’s internal and external environment and ensures that
comprehensive, appropriate internal controls are in place to
manage and mitigate the impact of risks and capitalise on
opportunities. Internal audit plays an integral role in assisting
MTC to improve the effectiveness of risk and opportunity
management.
The risks we manage (Page 32)

I wish to express my gratitude
to the MTC Board, the Exco, all
MTC employees and our valued
customers who make it possible
for us to be sustainable. As a
public company we have a duty
to balance our stakeholders’
expectations of service
excellence, inclusive economic
growth and sound financial
performance. We take this duty
seriously and work collectively
to achieve it.
On behalf of MTC, I thank
our shareholder and Minister
of Information, Mr Stanley
Simataa, for supporting our
strategic direction and guiding
our transformation process.”

2019 MTC Integrated
Annual Report
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Stakeholder engagement is routinely examined to ensure that
MTC responds appropriately to stakeholder expectations and
concerns. The Board is reviewing a stakeholder engagement
policy which will be implemented in 2020 to build stronger
relationships with our stakeholders so that we can continue
to create lasting value together.
Considering our stakeholders (Page 29)

On behalf of the Board, I
welcome Dr Erastus as MTC’s first
Namibian CEO. Dr Erastus has
extensive experience in the ICT
and telecommunications industry
and was previously MTC’s Chief
Technical Officer. The Board has
full confidence that he has the
right acumen, leadership skills and
management support to drive MTC
towards its vision of becoming the
best digital enabler that meets
customer needs.”

Changing our leadership
There were several changes to the Board during 2019.
On 29 March 2019, Minister Simataa announced the
appointment of three new Independent Non-executive
Directors, bringing the total Board membership to seven
and strengthening the Board’s skills and gender diversity.
Those appointed were Theo Mberirua, a telecommunications
expert, Toini Muteka, a human resources practitioner, and
Werner Schuckmann, a Chartered Accountant.
After year-end, on 21 November 2019, Minister Simataa
announced further changes to the Board composition.
Mr Mberirua was appointed Independent Non-executive
Chairperson and I reverted to my position as an Independent
Non-executive Director. Taschiona !Gawaxab and Rosalia
Shipiki were appointed Independent Non-Executive Directors,
bringing valuable IT and legal expertise to the Board. I wish
Mr Mberirua, Ms !Gawaxab and Ms Shipiki well in these new
positions and look forward to working with them to achieve
our vision.
At the same time, the Minister announced the resignation
of Tulimeke Munyika, who was Independent Non-executive
Deputy Chairperson and served on the Board for six years,
and Lorna Mbwale, who served on the Board for three years.
My colleagues and I thank Ms Munyika and Ms Mbwale for
their distinguished service to MTC and we wish them well in
their future careers.
There were also changes to our Exco. Dr Licky Erastus was
appointed CEO from 1 December 2019, having taken over
from MTC’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Mr Thinus Smit,
who served in the role of Acting CEO for over two years.
On 1 November 2019, Mr Melvin Angula, previously MTC’s
General Manager: Enterprise Solutions, was appointed Chief
Commercial Officer.

10

Investing in our communities
We embrace our responsibility towards the communities in which we work and our broader commitment to the economic
growth and inclusion envisaged by Namibia’s Harambee Prosperity Plan (2016/2017 – 2019/2020). During 2019, the 081Every1
project made further progress towards achieving the vision of providing digital access to 100% of Namibians.
We are improving the future prospects of hundreds of students by investing in the MTC Namibia National Internship project,
which will sponsor approximately 480 students over three years and place them in internships or job attachments at
participating institutions within the public and private sectors. We also participated in initiatives to address housing shortages
in Namibia and provide relief to drought-stricken Namibian farmers.
Over the past 15 years, MTC has invested over N$308 million in a range of sponsorships to support Namibia’s vibrant social
fabric and keep the dreams of aspirant Namibians alive. Our support for the annual Namibian Music Awards has co-transformed
the music and creative industry into a semi-professional career industry and assisted young male and female artists to realise
their dreams.

Enhancing shareholder returns
For the year ended 30 September 2019, the Board declared ordinary dividends of N$412.7 million, N$224.3 million of which was
paid in December 2018 and N$188.4 million was paid in June 2019.
On 11 November 2019, the Board declared an ordinary dividend of N$211 million which was paid in December 2019. After
considering MTC’s positive cash balances and the return on equity we are targeting, the Board declared a special dividend of
N$400 million at the annual general meeting, bringing the total dividends paid in December 2019 to N$611 million.
Over the past decade, MTC has distributed an accumulated amount of N$4.2 billion in dividends to shareholders.

N$ million
6 000
5 000
4 000
3 000

1 901

2 242

2 000

1 537

1 000

384

364

341

2010

2011

2012

0

Accumulated dividends paid

2 626

3 088

3 610

4 091

4 580

4 954

5 367

384

462

522

481

489

374

413

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Annual dividends paid

MTC's dividend policy allows it to declare a minimum of 50% of net profit after tax annually. Dividends are paid bi-annually.
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Looking ahead
We believe that MTC offers considerable opportunity for
private investors. We are a leader in a key market with a
strong established brand. Our pioneering past and a proven
track record of prudent financial management and consistent
growth enable us to keep adapting to technological advances
in telecommunications. These factors provide a strong
foundation for our long-term sustainability.
In 2020, we will navigate our complex external environment
as we position MTC in new markets, continue to serve our
traditional customer base to the best of our ability and fulfil
our national mandate.
Going forward (Page 52)

Elvis Nashilongo
Chairperson

A message from the incoming Chairperson
The listing process has not been easy,
and the fact that MTC is Namibia’s
first telecommunications provider,
ultimately owned by government, to
list has placed additional pressure
on government, the company and the
Board to ensure that we deliver our
shared objective of broadening
Namibian ownership of MTC
and, in the process, including more
Namibians in the life-changing digital
economy.
We look forward to working with
shared purpose as we continue to
fulfil our mandate to provide excellent
telecommunications services while
contributing to the inclusive growth
imperative of the Harambee
Prosperity Plan.
Theofelus Mberirua

2019 MTC Integrated
Annual Report
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Governance
As a public company with a mandate from government to contribute to economic inclusion and growth in Namibia,
MTC acknowledges its responsibility for good governance. The Board embraces the principles of good governance –
transparency, integrity, accountability and responsibility, and fairness.
The Board complies with the Companies Act of Namibia and has embarked on a journey to implement the principles of good governance as set out in NamCode and King IV.

We have a distinguished
Board, executives with
73 years of collective
telecommunications
industry experience and
632 employees.”
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Board members

Elia Elvis Nashilongo (48)

Tulimeke Maria Wayera Munyika (35)

Lorna Peyavali Mbwale (58)

Stephen Stuart Galloway (62)

Outgoing Independent
Non-executive Chairperson

Outgoing Independent
Non-executive Deputy Chairperson

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

MPhil IB
General Manager (GM): Operations,
Government Institutions Pension Fund

LLB
Director in the Ministry of Home Affairs

MBA, MSAF
Director of UNAM Foundation

BCom (Hons), BSc (Hons)
Banker

Appointed to Board: 2016
Stepped down as Chairperson:
November 2019
Tenure as director: 3 years

Appointed to Board: 2013
Reappointed: 2016
Resigned from Board: November 2019
Tenure as director: 6 years

Appointed to Board: 2016
Resigned from Board: November 2019
Tenure as director: 3 years

Appointed to Board: 2016
Reappointed: 2019
Tenure as director: 3 years
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Theofelus Mberirua (57)

Toini Nuusiku Zimina Muteka (38)

Werner Schuckmann (53)

Incoming Independent Non-executive Chairperson

Incoming Independent Non-executive Deputy Chairperson

Independent Non-executive Director

MBA
Director of Telepassport Namibia and Western National
Insurance

BA
Executive at Vivo Energy Namibia Limited

CA(NAM)
CFO of Air Namibia

Appointed to Board: April 2019
Appointed Chairperson: November 2019
Tenure as director: 6 months

Appointed to Board: April 2019
Appointed Deputy Chairperson: November 2019
Tenure as director: 6 months

Appointed to Board: April 2019
Reappointed: November 2019
Tenure as director: 6 months

All non-executive
directors are Namibian.”

Changes after year end
The following directors were appointed to the Board with effect from 21 November 2019:

Rosalia Dalulilua Ruusa Shipiki (49)

Taschiona !Gawaxab (39)

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

LLB
Executive at Namibia Statistics Agency

Microsoft certified system expert, Cisco certified network
professional
Senior IT Operations Manager at FirstRand Namibia Group
Managing Director of Kitago Investments

Appointed to Board: November 2019

Appointed to Board: November 2019

2019 MTC Integrated
Annual Report
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Executive Committee members

14

Licky Richard Erastus (39)

Marthinus Jacobus Smit (52)

Tim Ekandjo (40)

CEO

CFO

Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs Officer

PHD: Informatics (Cyber Security)

CA(NAM)

MPhil IB

Appointed to Exco: January 2018
Appointed Acting CEO: June 2019
Appointed CEO: 1 December 2019
ICT and telecommunications-related industry
experience: 19 years

Appointed to Exco: April 2006
Acting CEO: 2017 – 2019
Accounting and commerce experience: 34 years

Appointed to Exco: October 2008
Commerce and human capital experience: 18 years

Nguundja Patience Kanalelo (41)

Melvin Hosea Angula (36)

Ludwig Heinrich Tjitandi (38)

Head of Corporate Legal Services and Regulatory Affairs

Chief Commercial Officer

Acting Chief Technology Officer (CTO) and GM:
Network Access and Transmission

LLB (Hons)

National Diploma in System Administration and Networks

Higher Certificate in Power Engineering

Appointed to Exco: October 2015
Legal and ICT industry experience: 17 years

Appointed to Exco: November 2019
ICT industry experience: 13 years

Appointed to Exco: September 2019 (acting)
ICT industry experience: 13 years
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Board composition and diversity
as at 30 September 2019

Board expertise

Board composition
Policy
The Board should comprise a minimum of
six directors and be led by an Independent
Non-executive Chairperson.

Independence

Policy

Policy

The Board should ensure that it collectively contains the mix
of knowledge, skills, experience, personalities and diversity
appropriate to secure MTC’s strategic direction and sound
performance.

In discharging their roles, directors must always act
independently in what they personally believe to be the best
interest of MTC. Directors should recuse themselves in matters
in which they have a conflict of interest.

7

The Board’s areas of expertise are:
• Telecommunications
• Business and strategic management
• Accounting
• Financial services
• Communication
• Law
• Stakeholder engagement

independent non-executive
directors, including the Chairperson

0
executive directors

Diversity

Non-executive director tenure

Age profile

Board gender diversity – Women (%)
100
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33
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33

40

40

2016

2017

2018

2019

Post Board changes
in November 2019

Board race diversity – African, coloured and Indian (%)
100
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70

50

0

Elvis Nashilongo

Tulimeke Munyika

Lorna Mbwale
Theofelus Mberirua

Average age of all directors

50 years

Toini Muteka

Average age of 0 – 3 years tenure

Werner Schuckmann

53 years
Average age of 3 – 6 years tenure

35 years

40
20

3 – 6 years

Stephen Galloway

384

0

0 – 3 years

384
2016

2017

2018

2019

Post Board changes
in November 2019
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Governance structures
The Board
MTC’s Board is the core of the company’s system of corporate
governance and is ultimately accountable and responsible for
the performance and activities of MTC. The Board’s primary
responsibilities include determining MTC’s values and giving
the company strategic direction, identifying key risk areas and
key performance indicators of MTC’s business, monitoring the
performance of MTC against agreed objectives, advising on
significant financial matters and reviewing the performance
of executive management against defined objectives and
applicable industry standards.

SHAREHOLDER
NPTH (100%)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board Charter constitutes an integral part of each
director’s letter of appointment. The charter is reviewed
annually by the Board in consultation with the Company
Secretary to ensure that it remains relevant to the business
objectives of MTC.
All Board members, executives and employees are expected
to comply with MTC’s Code of Conduct (which includes
ethics). All Board members, executives and employees must
declare interests that may pose a conflict of interest. MTC has
a whistleblower policy. Employees receive training in ethical
behaviour and have access to a 24-hour toll-free hotline to
report unethical behaviour.
The Board’s performance is measured and managed against
criteria implemented by NPTH. From 2020, once the new
directors have settled into their roles, an independent
performance evaluation will be conducted externally in
consultation with the Company Secretary.
The internal audit function is an integral part of MTC’s
governance structures and functions under policies
established by the Exco and the Board. Internal audit is an
independent, objective assurance and consulting activity
tasked with instilling a systematic, disciplined approach
within MTC to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk
management control and governance processes.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit, Risk,
IT Governance
and Compliance
Committee
Read more on page 17

Human Resources
and Remuneration
Committee
(REMCO)
Read more on page 18

MTC Listing
Committee

Read more on page 19

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

MTC Tender Board
Read more on page 21

Internal audit
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Corporate Social
Investment (CSI)
Committee
Read more on page 20
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Board committee feedback
The Board appointed Board committees in 2018 and delegated responsibility to the committees to assist the Board in meeting specific governance oversight responsibilities. Each committee
comprises a minimum of three members, the majority of whom are independent non-executive directors nominated by the Board. The committee’s terms of reference were approved in 2019.
Although not a Board committee, the MTC Tender Board plays an integral role in governance. The MTC Tender Board is appointed by the Exco and its members are permanent MTC employees.

Audit, Risk, IT Governance and Compliance Committee
Composition
Committee
member since

Members

March 2010
May 2019
May 2019
October 2016

G Cloete (chairperson)1
W Schuckmann
T Mberirua
LP Mbwale
LR Erastus, CEO*
L Tjitandi, Acting CTO*
M Smit, CFO*

Werner Schuckmann,
Incoming Chairperson
Role: The committee assists the
Board in discharging its duties
related to the safeguarding of
assets, the operation of adequate
system control processes and the
preparation of accurate, compliant
financial reporting.

*

Meetings attended
(of a total of 6 meetings)
6/6
4/4
4/4
6/6
6/6
1/1
6/6

By invitation.

As from December 2019, the committee members are W Schuckmann (chairperson), T !Gawaxab,
EE Nashilongo and RR Shipiki.

Summarised terms of reference
•

Monitor integrity and operation of systems and control processes

•

Review financial statements in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and accounting standards

•

Oversee appointment, functions, removal and remuneration of external and internal auditors

•

Oversee internal audit, consider enterprise risk and oversee the appropriateness and effectiveness of other operational business risks, including ethics and independence,
and compliance programmes

•

Monitor integrity of integrated reporting system and internal controls, including financial and sustainability reporting, and IT governance

•

Review statutory accounts and consider accounting matters that arise

Key focus areas in 2019

1

1

Internal audit

•

Focused on operational processes and control systems affecting
the efficiency of customer experience

•

Reviewed developments in processes affecting capital projects,
cybersecurity and an ethical culture

•

Strengthening Independence of the internal audit function by
maturing the risk function

2

Financial forecasting

Improved financial forecasting and
three-year budgeting processes in
preparation for listing

3

Risk management

4

IT governance

•

Identified and prioritised main
enterprise risks in the risk
register

•

Rewrote IT policies to include
governance of fixed-line
enterprise environment

•

Implemented controls and
actions to manage or mitigate
risks

•

Commenced upgrade of
IT security and control
mechanisms

The chairperson of the Audit, Risk, IT Governance and Compliance Committee was an external, non-Board member. Due to the changes in the Board’s composition, and to enhance governance, Mr Cloete’s term ended on
30 September 2019. Mr Schuckmann is the new chairperson of this committee.

2019 MTC Integrated
Annual Report
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Human Resources and Remuneration Committee (REMCO)
Composition
Committee
member since

Members
TM Munyika (Chairperson)
TNZ Muteka
EE Nashilongo
LP Mbwale
LR Erastus, CEO*
M Smit, CFO*
T Ekandjo, Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs Officer*

Toini Muteka,
Incoming Chairperson
Role: The committee assists
the Board in discharging its
duties related to fair and
responsible human resources
and remuneration practices.

*

Meetings attended
(of a total of 7 meetings)

March 2019
May 2019
May 2019
March 2019

7/7
6/6
6/7
6/7
3/3
2/2
5/7

By invitation.

As from December 2019, the committee members are TNZ Muteka (Chairperson), EE Nashilongo and
T Mberirua.

Summarised terms of reference
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Determine and recommend the company’s remuneration strategy and service conditions
>> Ensure MTC remunerates its non-executive directors and executives fairly and responsibly and provides accurate and complete disclosure of director remuneration
>> Determine and recommend the policy and framework governing the remuneration, incentive schemes and service conditions for the CEO, executive management team and other
employees, ensuring they are benchmarked against the industry, achieve a balance between guaranteed and performance-based remuneration and are aligned with the company’s
performance culture
>> Determine targets for any performance-related pay schemes operated by the company and request Board approval and/or seek shareholder approval for long-term incentive
arrangements
>> Approve and recommend the general principles applied to the award of remuneration adjustments and increases, bonuses and incentive awards, as well as the quantum
and allocation methodology of the annual bonus pool
Determine and recommend the policy governing the fee and remuneration structure for the Board and Board committees and review directors’ fees annually
Assist in the performance evaluations of the Board, directors and members of Board committees, and make recommendations to the Board
Recruit Exco members and recommend the appointment of the CEO, approve the appointment and/or dismissal of members of Exco upon recommendation of the CEO, and conduct
performance appraisals of the CEO and Exco
Determine and develop a training and development framework considering the company’s needs
Monitor union relationships and principal or recognition agreements should the company be unionised
Monitor implementation of the Board’s Code of Conduct

Key focus areas in 2019

1
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Remuneration strategy and implementation

•

Ensured that the strategy and conditions of service remain
competitive enough to attract, motivate and retain quality
human resources in the various Paterson grades

•

Ensured an appropriate balance between remuneration
packages and other benefits, including pension and medical
aid funds, company vehicles and bonuses

2

Ethical leadership

•

Continue to instil a culture of ethical
leadership

•

Monitored measures to manage
ethical conduct, including a Code of
Conduct (including ethics) signed by all
employees; a 24-hour toll-free hotline for
employees to report unethical conduct;
and planned for ethics training

3

Executive recruitment

Appointed the critical roles of
CEO, and Chief Commercial
Officer

4

Succession planning

•

Finalised the succession planning
process as a core element of the
talent management policy to
attract, retain and develop young
professionals

•

Assessing the organisational
structure and providing guidance on
MTC’s future human resource needs
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Remuneration of directors (N$)
For the year ended 30 September 2019, the following emoluments were paid to MTC directors. Refer to note 7 in the annual financial statements.

EE Nashilongo
LP Mbwale
S Galloway
TM Munyika
T Mberirua
TNZ Muteka
W Schuckmann

Page 84 and 85

Directors’
fees

Other
services fees

Subsistence
and travel
allowances

Total

421 741
299 536
404 959
311 483
148 461
148 461
143 698

16 025
–
–
–
–
–
–

46 705
32 142
–
–
–
–
3 401

484 472
331 678
404 959
311 483
148 461
148 461
147 099

MTC Listing Committee
Composition
Members

Stephen Galloway,
Chairperson
Role: The committee assists the
Board in discharging its duties
related to the listing of MTC
shares on the NSX in compliance
with legal requirements.

S Galloway (chairperson)
EE Nashilongo
T Mberirua
W Schuckmann
LR Erastus, CEO*
M Smit, CFO*
T Ekandjo, Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs Officer*
N Kanalelo, Head of Legal Services*
*

Committee
member since

Meetings attended
(of a total of 8 meetings)

June 2018
June 2018
May 2019
May 2019

8/8
7/8
4/4
3/4
3/3
6/6
2/2
3/3

By Invitation

As from December 2019, the committee members are S Galloway (chairperson), T Mberirua,
W Schuckmann and RR Shipiki.

Summarised terms of reference
•

Oversee the internal Steering Committee and provide policy advice on listing matters

•

Take decisions of material significance related to any breaches of the NSX Listing Requirements and associated disciplinary sanctions or remedial conditions; endorsement, variation or
modification of decisions made by the Steering Committee; and approval of significant policies

Key focus area in 2019

1

MTC Listing

•

Obtained shareholder approval of the listing plan

•

Commenced preparation of the prospectus

•

Commenced market sensitisation, including roadshows
Chairperson’s message (Page 9)
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Corporate Social Investment (CSI) Committee
Composition
Members
S Galloway (chairperson)
TM Munyika
TNZ Muteka
L Erastus, CEO*
M Smit, CFO*
T Ekandjo, Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs Officer*

Stephen Galloway,
Chairperson
Role: The committee assists
the Board in overseeing
the development and
implementation of MTC’s
CSI, including corporate
sustainability, environmental
protection and philanthropic
and community investment
initiatives.

*

Committee
member since

Meetings attended
(of a total of 4 meetings)

October 2018
October 2018
May 2019

4/4
4/4
2/2
1/1
2/2
3/3

By invitation.

As from December 2019, the committee members are S Galloway (chairperson), TNZ Muteka and
T !Gawaxab.

Summarised terms of reference
•

Develop MTC’s corporate investment vision, strategy and policy and monitor its implementation

•

Provide oversight and guidance on social, environmental and ethical matters

•

Review and recommend annual CSI priorities

•

Set targets to measure performance of CSI initiatives, oversee execution of initiatives, and recommend improvements

Key focus areas in 2019 

1

National internship project

Approved the launch of the MTC Namibia National Internship
project to place 160 students annually.

20

Corporate social investment (Page 51)

2

Other projects

Monitored the:
•

Buy a Brick project to build homes for Namibian shack dwellers

•

Drought relief for commercial and communal farmers

•

A range of sponsorships and social initiatives in sport, ICT, education, health and arts and culture
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Other governance committees
MTC Tender Board
Composition
Tim Ekandjo,
Chairperson
Role: The MTC Tender
Board meets weekly
to adjudicate tender
and purchasing
recommendations to
ensure compliance with
governance policies and
procurement procedures.

Members
T Ekandjo, Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs Officer (chairperson)
D Mushvamiri, technology
J Ngololo, commercial
B Graupe, information technology
A Krohne, customer relations
J Moore, human resources

Committee
member since
August 2018
April 2015
April 2015
April 2015
April 2015
April 2015

Summarised terms of reference
•

Oversee MTC’s procurement activities, taking reasonable steps to ensure that the tender policy and procedures are followed, and report serious transgressions to the CEO

•

Submit biannual reports on activities to the Board

•

Adjudicate and verify adherence to procurement policy and procedures

•

Ensure tender proposals and documents are handled transparently and fairly and provide guidance on whether to follow an invited or open tender

•

Approve the selection for standardisation of equipment or blacklisting of suppliers

•

Uphold MTC’s Code of Conduct and be impartial and objective in reviewing proposals

Key focus areas in 2019

1

Procurement policy review

Reviewed new procurement policy in line with Central
Procurement Board guidelines

2

Transparency and control of procurement process

•

Ensured transparent and fair procurement process

•

Oversaw compliance and quality of service (cost vs quality)

2019 MTC Integrated
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Chief Executive
Officer’s
strategic
overview
MTC has maintained a leadership
position since its inception 25
years ago and delivered consistent
operational and financial
performance over the past five years,
despite challenges in its operating
environment.
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MTC has achieved compound annual growth rates of 4.5%
in revenue and 9.6% in net profit since 2014. We have done
this by making sure that our extensive transmission and
distribution networks keep responding to the changing needs
and behaviours of our loyal customer base, while expanding
into new growth markets and providing digital access to 97%
of Namibians.
MTC’s financial position and cash flows remained strong
in 2019. Revenue grew by 4.62% to N$2 613.7 million
(2018: N$2 498.2 million). EBITDA decreased 10.1% to
N$1 345.1 million (2018 N$1 495.8 million) mainly as a result
of the adoption of IFRS 15 (refer to note 3 in the annual
Page 80 to 82), which changed the
financial statements
way we account for postpaid subscription revenue. Our
sound financial performance in difficult economic conditions
enabled us to continue implementing MTC’s strategy without
external financing.

Implementing our strategy
MTC’s strategy responds to trends in its external environment.
At a macroeconomic level, the Namibian economy has
contracted for two consecutive years, impacting consumer
spending habits and increasing demand for value-added
products and services. Namibia’s population of approximately
2.5 million is small relative to the country’s size, and the pace
of its population growth has been restricted to less than 2%
annually since 2013. At 2.5 million active subscribers, MTC’s
customer base has reached saturation.
These external themes have been compounded by two major
global telecommunications trends which present both risk
and opportunity:
•

Declining demand for voice and SMS has reduced the
pace of growth in MTC’s traditional revenue streams

•

Rapid growth of data usage, driven by social media,
streaming services, gaming and value-added services
such as fibre and cloud offers new, but competitive,
revenue opportunities
External themes impacting our business (Page 27)

Our customers are at the heart of our business and we realign
our strategy constantly to meet their evolving needs for smarter
telecommunications solutions and connectivity, with faster
mobile access, at affordable prices. We are increasing our use
of data analysis to understand customers’ needs. Our customer
relationship management focuses on retaining existing
customers, increasing the value from retained customers and
attracting new customers by distinguishing our company from
competitors with innovative offers that enhance customers’ lives.
Before 2019 MTC’s core services and products were
postpaid, prepaid, roaming and handsets, via a 4.5G capable
network. Our realigned strategy capitalises on new growth
opportunities to serve the rapid increase in data usage. We
are creating value-added services that can drive the value of
our current products and we are entering new markets in the
business sector to generate new sources of revenue growth.
Our strategy to be the digital enabler of choice means that
we also play a role in the broader Namibian society, meeting
Namibia’s national broadband targets, connecting Namibians,
eliminating the digital divide between rural and urban
communities and making sure that telecommunication is a
catalyst for economic growth and inclusion.
The primary strategic actions implemented in 2019 to retain
existing customers, attract new customers and achieve our
revenue growth objectives were:
•

increasing the value of MTC’s current products and
services;

•

growing ARPU; and

•

expanding into new growing markets.

Increasing the value of current products
and services
Together with the risks and opportunities of broad global
telecommunications trends, mobile operators face threats
from over-the-top applications such as WhatsApp and Skype,
which affect revenue growth, particularly revenue from voice
and roaming services. MTC stays competitive by responding
to customer needs for differentiated products and valueadded services, including continuous upgrades of existing
products and services.

In 2019, we launched new products and service offerings
to postpaid subscribers:
•

More free data and the option to add a phone with an
extra instalment fee

•

New Select and Mobiz service plans offering more value
such as device leasing and servicing, and voice and data
sharing options, for the same monthly fee

•

Our SmartShare service plans were upgraded to allow
customers to share their inclusive voice and data units
with family members

•

Our content services and reverse billing services
were increased

For our prepaid customers:
•

•

We upgraded the Aweh subscriptions (which supplement
standard service plans) with new products and packages
to provide more data, SMS and voice. There are a
number of top-up bundle options available for Aweh
subscribers
The popularity of our revamped Aweh Super resulted in
150% growth in take-up of the offering

By making use of our data-enabled network, we launched new
revenue streams that would enable MTC to provide content
and video, secure cloud and hosted PBX value-added services
to enhance customers’ lives and improve their access to the
digital economy. MTC’s end-to-end value-added services
platform now provides digital content via web applications,
SMS and other messaging technologies like unstructured
supplementary service data (USSD). This allows customers
to browse the news and catch up on premium local and
international content in English and Oshiwambo, including
live sports scores and weather updates on smartphones and
internet-enabled feature phones.

One of the greatest advantages
in the fast-changing world of
technology is the capacity and
capability to adapt quickly
to change. We demonstrate
throughout this integrated
report how our infrastructure,
telecommunications expertise
and stable financial base,
developed over 25 years –
sometimes in alliance with
technology or financial partners
– have instilled this advantage
at MTC’s core.”

2019 MTC Integrated
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Growing average revenue per user
Growing the ARPU and retaining or increasing the number
of postpaid customers who yield a higher ARPU help us to
achieve revenue growth.
The ARPU generated by our postpaid customers dropped to
N$346 (2018: N$402) due to the adoption of IFRS 15 (refer to
Page 80 to 82).
note 3 in the annual financial statements
The number of postpaid customers decreased by 5 300 due
to customer churn as a result of bad debt under the current
economic pressure.
ARPU for prepaid customers increased to N$54 (2018: N$52),
thanks mostly to the popularity of value-added upgrades to
the Aweh offerings. Some of our postpaid customers switched
to prepaid to cut costs and we attracted new-to-market
customers, which increased our prepaid customer numbers
by 44 000. In contrast with the industry trend of declining
prepaid ARPU, we achieved 3% annual growth in prepaid
ARPU from 2014 to 2019.
Our blended ARPU (including handset revenue) of N$90.3
grew by 2% despite the saturation of our customer base.
As customer demand for mobile voice services declines and
data usage increases, data services offer a significant untapped
market. By shifting more of our 2G users to 3G and 4G
networks, we are encouraging customers to make more use
of broadband services, particularly in rural areas where digital
adoption has been slower. This is exposing our customers
to better technologies on the same network footprint and
building customer appetite for the future roll-out of 5G. We are
also introducing affordable smartphone devices with more data
functionality to allow 2G users to benefit from the full capacity
of our network.
We reached 86% mobile broadband coverage in
November 2019 and are targeting 100% in 2021. Our response
to customer demand for digital services is expected to
sustain ARPU growth as the blended ARPU for 3G and 4G
users is higher than that of 2G customers.

Expanding into growth markets
As we adapt to the digital revolution, we are extending
MTC’s network infrastructure and capacity to support new
internet and broadband (fixed line) revenue streams that will
compensate for lower demand for traditional mobile voice
and SMS. We are placing equal emphasis on serving our
existing customers well and offering them value in a difficult
economic climate.
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We launched our own fibre optic network in October 2018 to
provide business owners with fast, reliable internet services.
After lengthy delays, the City of Windhoek approved digging
and construction rights in November 2019 and we initiated
the roll-out of our Spectra Enterprise and Spectra Home fibre
offers, including broadband data connectivity that will deliver
a fast and stable internet connection at affordable prices.
Our fibre offering was complemented by the launch of
our secure cloud service offering – a hosted solution that
combines technologies and customised IT services for
business customers. In November 2019, we launched Cirrus
Cloud PBX, a hosted telephony solution using best-in-class
technology. Both solutions reduce our customers’ capital
outlay and maintenance costs.
The fixed-line enterprise market offers good future potential,
having grown by 18% annually (CRAN, 2018) in 2016 and 2017.
As a new market entrant, our drive to deploy fixed service
products to offices and homes competes against major players
such as Telecom Namibia, Paratus and South African-backed
MTN. Having built strong relationships with businesses and
government customers through our mobile offering, we are
favourably positioned to ramp up our presence by extending
our fixed-line services to these customers. In doing so, we
are supported by strategic partners in the delivery of secure
business-to-business and business-to-consumer digital
solutions.

Investing in infrastructure
Rapid advances in global technology and the ways
people are connecting are driving constant change in
telecommunications. To remain competitive, we keep
investing in our infrastructure.
We are expanding our network geographically to open up access
to more Namibians and adding capacity to ensure that our
systems remain agile enough to respond to constant change.
Our investments in strategic capital expenditure projects have
amounted to N$1.3 billion since 2015, helping us to retain our
customer base and generate strong and sustainable cash flow.
During this period, our capital expenditure made a significant
investment in the Namibian economy.
Total capital expenditure of N$511.8 million in 2019 (2018:
N$600.5 million) was lower than budgeted as several
factors hampered our progress. These included lengthy
environmental impact assessments of new fixed and mobile

projects that delayed the 081Every1 project by over a year and
a 10-month delay in the City of Windhoek’s approval of the
roll-out of our fibre network. These obstacles impacted our
ability to attract new customers and grow revenue, but by
year end we had recorded adequate progress in our flagship
projects.
•	Project capacity 2020 is expanding our radio access
network and providing quality voice and data services
through technology upgrades, sector splitting and
spectrum redistribution. The project is increasing the
capacity of base stations. Phases 1 and 2 are complete and
phase 3 will replace dated infrastructure and increase LTE
coverage in 2020.
•	
081Every1 is expanding our national footprint to
accommodate 100% population coverage by building
new sites in rural and urban areas and adding higher
speed (3G) capabilities to all sites. Despite the delays,
phase 1 of the project is near completion and phase 2
will be completed in 2021.
•	Our digital transformation programme is upgrading
most of the core systems to create the agility we need
to deploy new products, services and solutions faster
and more cost-effectively. A phased project plan for the
upgrade of our operations support and business support
system (OSS/BSS) is in progress, following the award
of the tender. The upgrade will improve the operational
efficiency and customer experience by optimising the
BSS. Our customers and service employees will also
benefit from better queue management in stores and
automation of basic services that can be done via online
channels.
•	Fixed services will provide fast, reliable, value-added
digital services, such as fibre to the office and the home
and secure hosted cloud solutions. Despite the delayed
approval, we initiated the roll-out of the fixed fibre
network in Windhoek and will extend the offering to other
locations with the support of local authorities. We also
launched a business-to-business secure cloud offering
after onboarding the first proof of concept customers.
 perational performance (Page 42);
O
Corporate social investment (Page 51)
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Evolving regulatory environment
MTC operates in a constantly evolving regulatory environment.
Our telecommunications operations are regulated by the
CRAN which is mandated by the Communications Act,
8 of 2009 (Communications Act) to fulfil functions such as
licensing and consumer protection within a competitive
electronic communications environment.
Our compliance management and reporting obligations
are supported by internal controls, including an electronic
system that issues regulatory updates and reminders to the
responsible employees.
Proposed amendments to the Communications Act and
other regulatory proposals or rulings related to CRAN’s
discretion in matters such as the levying of fees, number
portability, infrastructure sharing and spectrum allocation,
created an unpredictable and uncertain environment for
telecommunications operators. Some of these matters were
resolved but others remain under review.

Spectrum allocation and auctioning
MTC has a low spectrum allocation relative to its customer
numbers and needs more spectrum to continue growing.
Inadequate spectrum (the invisible frequency that travels
through air) influences our ability to supply 3G and 4G to
underserved areas and ultimately impacts our customer
service and revenue growth. We secured 80% of the spectrum
we require on condition that we build 15 new base stations in
specific areas with low return on investment. If successful,
the application by a licensee for CRAN to release Telecom
Namibia’s unused spectrum, as legally required, would make
additional spectrum available for other operators.

A new regulation governing spectrum auctioning poses
additional future risks, including increased operational
cost and provision for a consortium of bidders which may
exclude MTC. Telecommunications operators are obliged to
publish spare capacity that can be leased, but determining
spare capacity is costly. We have asked CRAN to consider the
sharing of the costs of determining capacity with operators
applying to lease the capacity. The recent withdrawal of an
application to lease capacity mitigated the risk in the near
term, but it remains a future concern.
Viewed differently, spectrum auctioning offers the opportunity
of rental income from the leasing of capacity to other operators.

CRAN’s discretion in levying of fees
A 2016 High Court ruling, backed by a subsequent 2018
Supreme Court of Appeal ruling, found that CRAN’s
levying of telecommunications operators’ annual fees was
unconstitutional. This remains subject to legal challenges.
MTC suspended the payment of annual fees after the 2016
ruling, but CRAN is of the opinion that MTC is liable for fees
and penalties amounting to N$92.4 million, despite the
Supreme Court’s confirmation of the levy’s unconstitutionality.
We await the outcome of the legal process and have made a
financial provision of N$34.9 million to date.

Creating a level playing field for number
portability
CRAN intends to implement number portability from one
operator to another. This would have a cost impact and the
exclusion of fixed-line numbers would disadvantage new
entrants to this market. The risk was mitigated when CRAN
ruled in July 2019 that consumers of telecommunications
services could switch between mobile and fixed network
operators with the option of keeping their numbers.

Before this ruling, CRAN limited number portability to mobile
services, and excluded fixed-line services, giving the impression
that Telecom Namibia’s fixed-line service was protected from
competition from new market entrants such as MTC and MTN,
while it had access to the customers of other mobile networks.

Preparing for listing
We are preparing for MTC to be regulated by the NSX after our
listing in 2020. A delay in listing past the date provided by CRAN
will put MTC at risk of being penalised by CRAN. However, this
risk is mitigated by our preparation and readiness to complete
the listing, once approved by the NSX. A future priority will be to
embed governance policies of the NSX throughout the company.
External themes impacting our business (Page 27);
The risks we manage (Page 32)

Acknowledging our stakeholders
Our ability to create sustainable value is backed by the
hard work, dedication and support MTC receives from its
stakeholders. In particular, I wish to acknowledge the Exco
and employees for producing another strong, strategically
aligned performance in challenging conditions.
I thank our customers for continuing to support us and for
helping us to serve them to the best of our ability by rewarding
good service with loyalty and reminding us when we need to
step up. Our strategic partners and distributors play a key role
in keeping MTC competitive and our regulator, with whom we
enjoy robust but professional engagement, ensures that we
fulfil our broader mandate to Namibia.

I thank the Board for the
confidence it has expressed in
me. Together with the Board,
all our employees, suppliers
and partners, we will continue
to improve on the value created
by my predecessors.”

Going forward (Page 52)
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Navigating
our operating
environment
MTC operates in a competitive and
rapidly evolving industry that is
influenced by a range of external
factors. By understanding the
challenges and opportunities in
our operating environment, we can
respond to them strategically.
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External themes impacting our business
Macroeconomic environment
The Namibian economy is facing headwinds due to a
global downturn, the persistent drought in the region and
a slowdown in major domestic sectors. This has resulted in
three consecutive years of economic contraction which has
impacted customers’ affordability and led many to migrate
to less expensive or more value-added consumer products
and services.
The economic climate may also influence future business
decisions such as hiring, borrowing, lending and investment
in new initiatives.

MTC responded by ensuring good customer service,
pricing its products and services competitively, increasing
its value-added services and investigating a customer loyalty
programme. Our industry requires continuous investment
in new technology and infrastructure maintenance. MTC
maintains a sound balance sheet, which strengthens
its resilience during economic downturns and enables
continuous capital investment.

Nambia’s gross domestic product (GDP) growth (%)

est.
Source: Bank of Namibia

Market saturation
Revenue from fixed-line services is declining globally, but there is an upward trend in data usage. MTC’s revenue from voice
services has reached a plateau in line with the global trend and future revenue is increasingly dependent on data services.
We expect that the demand for data services will continue to be driven by use of smartphones, video and other multimedia
services, and improvements in network capability.

MTC responded by focusing its customer relationship
management on retaining existing customers, increasing the
value from retained customers and acquiring new customers
by distinguishing itself from competitors with value-added
offers. This has enabled MTC to sustain 2% growth in its
subscriber base and 5% growth in revenue in the 2019
financial year. We are investing in new revenue streams in
data services and the fixed-line enterprise market.

The shift from mobile to data
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Competition in enterprise market

Broadband market share (%)
14%

While MTC remains the dominant player in Namibia’s mobile
telecommunications market, with a 91% market share of the
subscriber base, it only entered the growing fixed-line market
for business customers in 2019.
This sector grew by 18% annually in 2016 and 2017 (CRAN,
2018) and the trend is expected to continue in the foreseeable
future. In its drive to deploy fixed-line products and services,
MTC competes against Paratus, Telecom Namibia and MTN.

MTC responded by leveraging its extensive network and
strong customer relationships built through its mobile
offering to extend its fixed-line products and services to
small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and government
customers. We plan to increase our fixed-line market
share to 20% in 2021 by meeting customer demand with
the support of our strategic partners.

Evolving regulatory environment
MTC’s telecommunications operations are regulated by CRAN and the company will also be regulated by the NSX after it is listed. MTC
is subject to risks related to current legal and regulatory rulings which are unpredictable and may negatively affect its reputation and
business. MTC’s competitiveness in new markets or business ventures may be impacted by new legislation.
Chairperson’s message (Page 9); CEO’s strategic overview (Page 22); The risks we manage (Page 32)
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Paratus
Telecom
Namibia

28%
40%

28%

MTN
Others

Source: CRAN, 2019, December 2018

MTC responded by maintaining internal controls to ensure
that it complies with all relevant legislation and minimises
any potential events of regulatory non-compliance. MTC
engages routinely with the regulator, participates in ICT policy
or regulatory amendments, and challenges regulations that it
considers to be unfair and anti-competitive
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Considering our stakeholders
MTC has a diverse range of stakeholders who have an interest in its business and may be affected by it. MTC recognises that
stakeholders influence the company’s ability to create sustainable value. We engage openly and constructively with stakeholders to
understand and respond to their expectations and concerns.
The Board monitors stakeholder engagement routinely and is reviewing a stakeholder engagement policy which will be implemented
in 2020. Stakeholder engagement is the responsibility of the Chief Human Capital and Corporate Affairs Officer who employs the
following methods to manage stakeholder engagement.

Stakeholders
Shareholder and potential shareholders | Employees | Customers | Distributors | Strategic partners
Regulators and local authorities | Media | Civil society

Electronic
mediums
• Email
• Corporate website
• SMS
• Electronic distribution
of written
communication

Written mediums

Personal contact

Media

• Annual reports and
financial statements

• Meetings

• Newspapers

• Telephone contact

• Social media

• Business/industryspecific reports

• Discussion forums/
functions

• Billboards

• Newsletters

• Reports followed by
personal contact

• Media releases and
interviews

• Dedicated contact
person

• Publications

• Leaflets, pamphlets,
flyers and brochures

• Presentations

• Television

• Informal interactions

• Informal interactions
• Industry forums/
committees
• External agents
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Shareholder and potential shareholders
This stakeholder group expects MTC to:
•

Sustain sound financial health and performance, while fulfilling its commitment to be the digital enabler of choice

•

Maintain a strong dividend payment profile
Frequently asked questions
from potential investors include:

What influence does government wield as a
majority shareholder?

MTC’s response:
By aligning our governance with best practice, developing our reputation as a public company capable of effective
strategy implementation and profit generation, and fulfilling our national mandate, government involvement will
be limited.
Governance (Page 12); CEO strategic overview (Page 22)

How will MTC mitigate its “lazy” balance
sheet (surplus cash)?

Will MTC be able to sustain strong EBITDA
growth, compared to the industry?

Does MTC have adequate technical expertise?

How does MTC manage its evolving regulatory
environment?

What are MTC’s future growth prospects?

MTC declared a special dividend in November 2019 to address the favourable cash balance and the company’s
return on equity expectation.
Chairperson’s message (Page 9); Financial review (Page 35)

We expect to remain competitive by leveraging our strong market position and growth strategy in difficult market
conditions.
CEO strategic overview (Page 22); Financial review (Page 35)

We focus on maintaining long-standing technical expertise within MTC.
MTC at a glance (Page 6); The risks we manage (Page 32); Our human resources (Page 40)

We comply with existing legislation and engage with the regulator, participate in the development of new
ICT policies and challenge regulations that are considered unfair and anti-competitive.
CEO strategic overview (Page 22); The risks we manage (Page 32)

We are generating new revenue from enterprise services (fibre, cloud, cloud PBX) and value-added digital
services (digital content, internet of things).
CEO strategic overview (Page 22); Going forward (Page 52)

How will MTC manage strong competition
in new markets?

30

We compete in new markets by leveraging our market size, extensive network and valuable customer relationships.
CEO strategic overview (Page 22); The risks we manage (Page 32)
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Customers
This stakeholder group expects:
•

Quality service

•

Value for money

•

Being understood and heard

•

Value-added services that respond to evolving needs and behaviours

In response MTC focuses on:
•

Customer relationship management focused on customer retention, development and value addition

•

Customer satisfaction measurement through various indices, including external customer value management survey, internal customer satisfaction surveys, service quality assessments,
mystery shoppers, after-service feedback and a formalised process to manage queueing time

•

Customer relationship marketing interacts regularly with customer through event-based marketing and customised offers using tools such as chatbots and email

•

24-hour contact centre and network management and technical quality centre enable immediate response to service complaints
Key concerns expressed in customer
satisfaction surveys include:

Although the majority of queries are fully resolved
some remain unresolved for long periods

While there is evidence of improved customer
experience, customer communication is not
always ideal

In addition to its routine customer management and network improvement activities, MTC focused on:
•

Ensuring query turnaround times within 24 hours

•

Increasing communication and customer contact with more frequent visits by key account executives
Operational performance (Page 42)

•

Recognising the importance of customer communication

•

Responding promptly to customer queries

•

Making more resources available during peak times or when key account executives are unavailable

•

Improving after-hours service
Operational performance (Page 42)

Provide more information about new products,
services and explain data advantages and
disadvantages

•

Communicating service changes before they are implemented

Customers like the simpler, more direct Aweh Super
recharge voucher but request a system that allows
voice minute and data top-ups

•

Upgrading Aweh subscriptions (which supplement standard service plans) with new products and packages
to provide more data, SMS and voice. A number of top-up bundle options are available for Aweh subscribers
CEO strategic overview (Page 22)
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The risks we manage
The Board routinely reviews risks and opportunities in MTC’s external and internal environments and ensures that comprehensive, appropriate internal controls are in place to manage and mitigate the impact of risks.
Internal audit plays an integral role in assisting MTC to improve the effectiveness of risk management. The head of internal audit reports administratively to the CEO and functionally to the chairperson of the Audit, Risk and
IT Governance Committee. The management team responsible for risk management has regular access to MTC’s Chairperson and we are busy appointing a Risk Officer who will report to the Head of Legal and Compliance.
The MTC Tender Board adjudicates tender and procurement recommendations from the business units to ensure compliance with governance policies and procurement procedures. The Committee reports to the Exco.
MTC’s main risks during the 2019 financial year were identified and prioritised based on their potential impact and likelihood of occurrence. These risks, together with our controls and actions to manage or mitigate
them, are discussed in the following table.

1

2

Risk
Stakeholders
impacted
Our response

4

5

Network: IT and
business continuity

Customer satisfaction

Revenue assurance
and fraud

MTC faces regulatory risks that could
impact its competitive or financial
position, most notably in the areas
of infrastructure or spectrum sharing
and number portability.

Insufficient network capacity would
impact MTC’s ability to provide
quality service and customer
satisfaction in line with its licence
obligations.

As a telecommunications operator,
MTC depends on relevant systems,
equipment, skills and other
resources to ensure the continuity
of critical processes and operations.

Good customer service retains
customers, protects market share and
attracts new customers. Dissatisfied
customers may switch to competitors
and would be difficult to replace in a
saturated market.

Poor financial management or fraud
reduces MTC’s ability to sustain
revenue growth, while practices such
as process improvement and data
analysis contribute to sound financial
performance.

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Customers

•

Customers

•

Employees

•

Employees

•

Employees

Regulators and local authorities

•

Regulators and local authorities

•

Customers

•

Customers

•

Customers

•

Strategic partners

•

Distributors

•

Distributors

•

Implemented MTC OneCloud
project, with a disaster recovery
programme and fault tolerance to
ensure maximum availability and
continuity
Approved and implemented
business continuity policy and
trained implementers
Conducted annual security audit
of cyber threats to network and
systems
Monitored and actioned daily
IT server performance reports;
24/7 employee shifts respond to
system alarms

•

Upgraded Mobilehomes to
provide faster service and reduce
queues
Introduced social media in
all marketing campaigns and
enhanced communications
channels with web chat and
chatbots
Strengthened service level
agreements to improve customer
query management
Training dealers to improve their
customer relationships
Introduced eVouchers to reward
customer loyalty

•

Board-approved implementation
of a new revenue assurance and
fraud management system as
part of a new enterprise data
warehouse that will enhance
reporting and data analysis

•

Introduced anti-fraud system and
firewalls to detect and manage
fraud

•

Educating customers
to prevent scams

•

Informed CRAN of infrastructure
sharing cost impact and
suggested sharing of costs with
operators applying to lease
capacity

•

Continued to expand and
modernise the network, and
manage capacity

•

Monitored and planned to ensure
MTC meets licence obligations

•

Successfully challenged the ruling
that excluded portability of fixedline numbers

•

•

If successful, a licensee
complaint to CRAN about unused
spectrum would free it up for
other operators

Expanded network to new
areas, including rural, and
addressed congestion on different
technologies

•

•

32

3

Network: capacity

Regulatory

Submitted concerns about
spectrum auctioning to CRAN

•

Managed delays of project 2020
and 081Every1

•

Reviewing and formalising project
management processes to improve
efficiency of project implementation

•

•

•

•

•

•
•
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Our response

Stakeholders
impacted

Risk

6

7

8

9

10

Competition

Reputation

Customer needs and
economic environment

Although MTC is a dominant market
participant, it has experienced
marginal declines in its share of the
mobile telecommunications market
since 2015 and, as a late entrant to
the fixed-line business market, it faces
strong competition in that market.

Brand loyalty is integral to customer
retention and revenue growth. Poor
customer service or negative publicity
may damage MTC’s reputation, with
negative consequences for financial
performance.

The impact of a sustained economic
downturn on affordability leads
customers to switch to lower cost or
value-added packages. Good service
may be a deciding factor for customers
who are shopping around to change
service providers.

In the fast-evolving digital era,
customers are attracted to service
providers that offer innovative,
cutting-edge, cost-effective solutions.

MTC is exposed to significant foreign
exchange risk as the bulk of network
equipment is acquired in US Dollar or
Euro. These currencies are impacted
by US/China trade wars and Brexit
uncertainty, while the Namibia Dollar is
pegged to the volatile South African Rand.

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders

•

Customers

•

Customers

•

Customers

Strategic partners

Distributors

•

Distributors

•

Employees

•

Strategic partners

•

Strategic partners

•

Distributors

•

Regulators and local authorities

•

Media

•

Strategic partners

•
•
•
•

•

•

Shareholder and potential
shareholders
Customers
Employees
Distributors
Strategic partners

•

Implemented enterprise data
warehouse to help understand and
respond to customer needs

•

•

Leveraged extensive network
to offer customers new digital
services and products

•

The Board approved a more
conservative investment
and foreign exchange policy

Introduced new value-added
service plans for postpaid
customers

Conducted surveys, mystery
shoppers, internal service quality
reviews and employee training
to understand and respond to
customer needs

•

•

Maintained brand awareness and
a positive emotional connection
with customers through branding,
marketing and social media
campaigns

•

Expanded network coverage to
accommodate 3G and 4G

•

Demonstrated community support
with strong sponsorship and CSI
campaigns

•

Monitored service level agreements
to ensure customer service and
support

•

Established innovation centre for
customers and partners

Appointed a foreign exchange
specialist to advise on market
forecasting and hedging options

•

•

Strengthened service level
agreements to improve customer
service and support

•

Supported customers by improving
payment and debt management
processes

Hedged foreign currency liabilities
and timed the invoicing and
payment of liabilities to minimise
foreign exchange risk

•

Addressed all CRAN instructions
on time

•

Remained abreast of technology
advances, but speed of delivering
new products and services are
hampered by third parties

•

Monitored and responded to
competitor actions

•

Reinforced and built brand loyalty
with competitions and events

•

Technological innovation

•

Attended international innovation
conferences to keep up with
technology advances

•

S ponsored technology and innovation
competitions and initiatives

•

Implemented digital transformation
programme to ensure agility and
scalability

Currency volatility

2019 MTC Integrated
Annual Report

33

Our 2019
performance
unpacked
MTC maintained satisfactory financial
performance despite the impact of the
economic recession on customers and
our business.
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Financial review
In our drive toward customer centricity and creating customer experiences rather than just
delivering services, MTC introduced new, better value-for-money products and services to support
customers during these difficult times. This contributed to revenue growth and customer retention.
Customer retention remains at the core of our strategy and is a key driver for sustainable
growth and value creation. Responsible and accountable investment of stakeholder funds is
another key driver of MTC’s success.

The impact of new accounting standards
MTC adopted IFRS 151 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (as revised in April 2016) with
an initial application date of 1 October 2018, and recognised the cumulative effect of initially
applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity on 1 October 2018.
The comparative information was therefore not restated.
The impact of IFRS 15 changed the way MTC recognises monthly subscription fees, bundled services,
and additional cost of sales expenses for amounts previously recognised as right-of-use assets. This
resulted in a reduction in revenue recognised upfront, an increase in the cost of sales upfront and a
consequent reduction in gross profit and net profit after tax.
2019
before
adjustments
N$’000

Adjustments
N$’000

Volatile exchange rates
The volatility of the Rand compared to other global currencies, coupled with political and
economic uncertainty in South Africa, has a direct impact on Namibia and MTC, which relies on
imported technology. MTC’s major currency exposures are to the United States Dollar (USD),
Euro (Eur), the Swiss Franc (CHF) and the Great Britain Pound (GBP).
The Rand depreciated by 7.19% against the USD and by 4.84% against the Euro during 2019.
The other currencies remained relatively consistent year-on-year, with fluctuations of up to
8.59% month-on-month.
MTC manages its currency exposure through constant monitoring and evaluation of markets to
determine the best time to purchase in line with the foreign currency management policy. The
inflows of foreign currency from roaming revenue serve as a natural hedge against volatility
on a smaller scale.

Exchange rate volatility (USD1:N$)

Adjusted
2019
figures
N$’000

Statement of profit and loss
and other comprehensive income
Revenue
Cost of sales
Expected credit loss allowance
EBITDA
Amortisation
Deferred tax
Net profit after tax

589 720
(173 774)
(12 859)
1 494 281
(184 663)
(8 325)
806 508

(17 368)
(127 156)
(4 660)
(149 184)
134 158
5 558
(9 468)

572 352
(300 930)
(17 519)
1 345 097
(50 505)
(2 767)
797 040

Statement of financial position
Intangible assets
Contract assets
Deferred tax liability
Retained earnings

623 904
47 719
(286 830)
(2 308 840)

(134 158)
97 832
12 374
23 952

489 746
145 551
(274 456)
(2 284 888)

Statement of profit and loss
2017
N$ million
Revenue
Cost of sales
Direct costs
Sales and marketing
Personnel costs
General and administration
EBITDA
Depreciation and amortisation
Net profit after tax
EBITDA margin (%)
Net profit after tax margin (%)

2 420.9
(122.5)
(388.2)
(57.5)
(265.7)
(185.8)
1 402.8
(403.9)
711.4
57.9
29.4

2018
N$ million

2019
N$ million

2 498.2
(99.1)
(332.9)
(84.9)
(292.6)
(196.7)
1 495.8
(395.4)
807.7
59.9
32.3

2 613.7
(300.9)
(344.8)
(87.5)
(333.0)
(206.7)
1 345.1
(285.4)
797.0
51.5
30.5

Revenue increased 4.62% (2018: 3.19%) to N$2 613.7 million.
EBITDA decreased 10.1% (2018: increased 6.63%) to N$1 345.1 million largely due to the expensing
of postpaid devices when contracts are approved, as required by IFRS 15. MTC’s profitability was
above average, with an EBITDA margin of 51.5% (2018: 59.9%), despite the impact of IFRS 15.
1

IFRS 15 replaced IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers and
SIC-31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
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Roaming
Other

Revenue split – Postpaid (%)

Revenue classes (%)
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EBITDA
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Net profit 2017
after tax decreased
1.32% (2018: 2019
increased 13.53%) to N$797.0 million, mainly due to IFRS 15 and increased
2018
depreciation as a result of capital expenditure in 2018 and 2019.
Subscription
SMS

Increased revenue

Voice
Data

90

16

60

27

90

4

3

10
7
80 traffic continued
Data
to increase9in response to a sustained
growth in 80
demand. However, data revenue growth was conservative due
70 and services, including more free data.
to70
MTC’s drive to provide customers with better value-for-money products

60

29
Prepaid
revenue
model. Aweh Super was upgraded to offer customers more
50
34 increased, mainly due to MTC’s Aweh subscription50
57
57
call
Super subscriptions.
40minutes, SMSs and data, resulting in a 150% increase in Aweh 40
57

30

30

Roaming
revenue decreased due to global market pressure on roaming
tariffs. Globally, telecoms companies are decreasing
20
20
roaming
tariffs to adhere to the concept of “roam like at home”. Roaming
revenue is also impacted by the availability of data
10
10
34
31
34
44
49
50
connectivity
and the use of over-the-top applications (such as WhatsApp
and Skype) instead of the traditional communication
0
0
2017
2018
2019
2017
2018
2019
methods.
Postpaid

Prepaid

Roaming
Subscription
In line with the global trend,
MTC’s voiceVoice
revenue continued to decline, as the uptake of more data and the use of over-the-top
Handsets
Interconnects
Other
SMS
Data
applications to communicate increased constantly and more free minutes were bundled under prepaid Aweh offerings.

Revenue split – Postpaid (%)

Revenue split – Postpaid and prepaid (%)
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The split between the revenue classes remained mostly unchanged due to the substantially unchanged subscriber numbers.
Revenue classes (%)
Revenue split – Prepaid (%)
The change in postpaid revenue was due to IFRS 15 (refer to The impact of new accounting standards
Page 35) where a
2
2 allow for
portion of postpaid revenue is now recognised as handset revenue. The launch2of new MTC service-only
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Cost efficiency
Cost efficiency remains critical for MTC to maintain
its margins.
Total operational expenditure increased 9.2%, with a 13.8%
increase in employee costs a key contributor. The increase
in employee costs was due to filling vacancies, particularly
in general management and Exco positions. These are an
investment in human capital to drive effective strategy
implementation.

Efficiency and cost management contribute to individual and
company performance indicators. Therefore, we focused on
cost efficient expansion and growth, without compromising
the quality of services and goods procured. Direct costs were
restricted to a 3.6% increase, largely due to:
•

•

•

CRAN operators’ licence fee is not applicable in the
2019 financial year due to a court ruling. These costs will
resume in future once a new licence fee regime has been
enacted.
Transmission lease line cost reduced due to investment
in our own infrastructure and negotiations with the
main supplier.
Effective procurement and tender processes, and
negotiations and relationships with suppliers ensured
cost effectiveness.

Taxation
Income taxation of N$311.9 million was 12% lower than in 2018
due to an increase in deductible expenditure and temporary
differences. The effective tax rate decreased to 29.29% (2018:
30.72%) as a result of the movement from exempt dividends
received and other capital temporary differences.

Property, plant and equipment increased 15.6% mainly due to
projects such as 081Every1 and the purchase of the MTC head
office and technical buildings. Our capital expenditure equals
20% of revenue.

19%

18%

The implementation of IFRS 15 resulted in a 12.8% decrease
in intangible assets and the addition of contract assets to the
statement of financial position. Cash and cash equivalents
increased 18.9% as a result of delays in capital projects.

22%

22%
13%

Chairperson’s message (Page 9)
Sales and marketing costs were restricted to a sustainable
3% increase, which accommodated the advertising and
marketing approach adopted in 2018 to drive MTC’s brand
visibility. The 2017 sales and marketing cost was lower, as MTC
did not sponsor NPL Soccer that year.

Statement of financial position

Cost breakdown – 2019

6%

Change in inventories
of finished goods

Direct cost
General and admin

Sales and marketing

Depreciation and
amortisation

Employee cost

Return on equity is an important ratio for MTC as it creates a
comparative to other companies in the telecommunications
and other industries. It provides the shareholder with good
benchmarking information in terms of the company’s
performance. The decline in the 2019 ratio is due to the
shareholder’s 2018 decision to temporarily decrease
dividends to fund capital expenditure projects.

Return on equity (%)
50

Cost breakdown – 2018

40

47.2

41.6

30

7%

34.5

20

28%

24%

10
0

2017

2018

2019

6%
21%

14%

Change in inventories
of finished goods
Sales and marketing
Employee cost

Direct cost
General and admin
Depreciation and
amortisation
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Investing in property, plant and equipment
MTC’s capital investment increased by 20.9% to N$400.1 million
(2018: N$331.0 million) despite delays on 081Every1 and the MTC
fibre project. 48.9% of the capital expenditure was allocated to
the network, and 45.7% was used to buy buildings.
Phase 1 of the 081Every1 project is nearing completion and
MTC continued investing in radio network infrastructure
upgrades and capacity upgrades. We remain committed to
serving our customers through a quality network in line with
our mission and vision.
1 600
1 200
800
400
0

20%
479.0
331.0
207.2
2017

24%

600.5
269.5
331.0
2018

2019

2017

2018

2019

0.8
0.2

0.9
0.4

0.8
0.3

Bad debt as % of revenue (%)
Net bad debts1 as % of revenue (%)
1

Actual bad debts less bad debts recovered.

Cash and interest earned

20

All excess cash is invested to maximise return on investment, and reflects the low-risk nature of MTC’s portfolio as required by
1 200
the investment policy. Finance income is derived from surplus cash
and the financing of devices
on new service69.6
plans (contract
60.0
20
assets) launched in April 2019.
800
37.6

10
0

Capital expenditure – property, plant and equipment (N$ million)
Capital expenditure – intangible assets (N$ million)
Total
Capital expenditure as a percentage of revenue (%)

Intangible assets decreased
Intangible assets capital expenditure decreased 58.6%
to N$111.7 million (2018: N$269.5 million) due to the
implementation of IFRS 15 and the change in the
recognition of the handsets provided to customers as part
of their subscriber contracts. 90.6% of the intangible capital
expenditure was invested in the network.

Minimising credit losses
We managed bad debts through tight credit control policies
which are constantly monitored and adapted to address
relevant credit risk and exposure.
Trade and other receivables decreased 15.7% to
N$151.6 million (2018: N$179.9 million), largely due to the
timing of the September 2019 direct debits.
The implementation of IFRS 9 impacted the way we calculate
expected credit loss allowance (previously known as doubtful
debt allowance), which resulted in the expected credit loss
allowance for trade and other receivables decreasing 12.4%
to N$10.6 million (2018: N$12.1 million).
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The total expected credit loss allowance for trade and other receivables and contract assets was N$17.5 million.

30
20%
511.8
111.7
400.1

Contract assets of N$145.6 million were recognised as a result of the implementation of IFRS 15. These contract assets are
recognised on inception of each postpaid contract or phone sale contract and unwind to be recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when services-related subscriber agreements are rendered. An expected credit loss allowance of N$6.9 million
was recognised for contract assets.

30

1 600

8.11%

7.23%

2018

2019

7.21%
Delays in certain projects significantly increased our cash holdings.
All excess
cash was invested to maximise the return10on
400
investment, yielding interest income of N$69.6 million (2018: N$60 million), 599.9
and an average interest
(2018: 8.1%).
1 044.9
789.1 rate of 7.2%
0

30

1 600
1 200

69.6

60.0

800
400
0

20

37.6
7.21%

8.11%

7.23%

599.9

789.1

1 044.9

2017

2018

2019

2017

0

Cash balance at 30 September (N$ million)
Interest earned (N$ million)
Total (%)

10
0

Cash balance at 30 September (N$ million)

The graph
out our cash flow movements for the 2019 financial year.
Interestbelow
earnedsets
(N$ million)
Total (%)
1 500 000 1 344 065

1 200 000

69 563
(11 715)
(311 864)

900 000

581 166

600 000

(508 883)

(2 841)

300 000

165 652
(412 673)

0
Cash generated Working
from operations capital
before working
capital movements

Net
interest

Tax
paid

Net
capital
expenditure

Free
cash
flow

Investing
activities

Financing
activities

Total
cash
utilised
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Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue is dependent on the usage patterns of
our customers and decreased 2% to N$142.8 million (2018:
N$145.7 million).

Dividends
An ordinary dividend of N$211 million and a special dividend
of N$400 million was declared on 11 November 2019 and
paid in December 2019. The special dividend was declared
due to MTC’s good performance and to address the high cash
balances available at 30 September 2019.
This declaration of dividends is calculated as a percentage of
net profit after tax, in line with the dividend policy.

Dividends paid (N$ million)
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
1

611¹
489

2017

374

413

2018

2019

Q1 2020

N$211 million ordinary dividend and N$400 million special
dividend.
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Our human resources
MTC’s 632 employees serve a diverse market of more than 2.5 million individual and business customers and play a central role in maintaining the company’s customer-centric strategy and
market-leading customer service reputation.

KEY FOCUS AREAS

1 Employee engagement
2 Performance management
3 Remuneration
4 Investing in talent
Preferred
Namibian employer

36%

invested in training and
development
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Employee engagement

MTC engages regularly and collaboratively with its employees at all levels of the company to ensure open lines of communication.
An employee engagement forum ensures that employee concerns are addressed and arranges exciting initiatives to promote
team building and alignment with MTC values of integrity, customer centricity, stakeholder inclusivity and innovation.
An internal agreement determines the relationship between employer and employee. MTC supports freedom of association and
bargaining but has not signed a recognition agreement with organised labour due to its sound relationship with employees.
External employee surveys are conducted annually to measure employee satisfaction and engagement.
2019 Company Climate Survey (%)
Company Climate Survey
Engagement index
Response rate

Empowerment
MTC is guided by Namibia’s national
development agenda, contained
in the Harambee Prosperity Plan,
in its approach to broad-based
empowerment.

employees with over
10 years’ service

N$3.87 million

1

Ethical conduct
Code of Conduct
24-hour toll-free hotline
Ethics training

Score

Benchmark

61.2
69.1
84.3

64.5
71.3
70.0

MTC’s employee turnover rate in 2019 was 3.4% (2018: 4.87%).
MTC’s employee composition
2017

2018

2019

Racially disadvantaged

Men
Women

266
243

259
239

298
295

Racially advantaged

Men
Women

16
15

18
15

18
15

Persons with disabilities

Men
Women

–
1

1
1

1
1

Non-Namibians

Men
Women

4
1

3
1

3
1

Total

Men
Women

286
260

281
256

320
312
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2

Performance management

3

Remuneration

MTC has a robust performance management system. Each
employee has a set of key performance indicators derived
from departmental objectives which are linked to MTC’s
strategic objectives.

MTC’s employee proposition and preferred employer status
has enabled the attraction and retention of top talent. MTC
pays competitive salaries at the 75th percentile of the market,
with a range of retention benefits:

Performance bonuses are paid bi-annually, based on:

•

profit share bonuses;

•

individual performance;

•

•

customers’ perceptions of the quality of service delivered
(conveyed in customer satisfaction surveys); and

training and development opportunities and employee
bursaries;

•

•

company performance measured by EBITDA growth,
EBITDA minus capex growth and MTC market share.

personal insurance at group rates and employee finance
at affordable rates;

•

fuel and maintenance allowances;

•

a 60% medical aid allowance;

•

monthly airtime and two-yearly cellphone or handset
benefits; and

•

long-service awards.

We participate in salary surveys every two years to compare our
remuneration philosophy and competitiveness in the market.

4 Investing in talent
MTC invested in a range of employee training and development initiatives. This ensures that we continue to attract and retain talent
and build an adequate succession pipeline to meet the company’s human resource requirements in a highly competitive skills market.

MTC academies
•

An onboarding academy ensures that employees are adequately equipped with company information and skills to succeed in
new positions

•

A coaching academy provides leadership development for supervisors and middle managers

•

A talent academy is geared for consistently good performers with strong potential identified through the performance
management system. The programme varies from specialised training to leadership development. The programme resulted in
the promotion of 10 employees into managerial positions and 15 into supervisory roles.

MTC offers employee bursaries, study loans and deployment opportunities to give employees exposure in their areas of study. Two
beneficiaries of MTC’s internal bursary scheme now serve on MTC’s Exco.
An external bursary scheme contributes to Namibia’s national capacity building agenda and broadens MTC’s recruitment base. The
scheme benefited 16 undergraduate students in 2019, while 67 employees received interest-free study loans of N$15 000 to further
their studies.
MTC’s succession programme has identified, and is developing, 27 employees for critical positions in the company. Succession
planning and talent management is a key part of addressing the challenge of retaining and developing young professionals.
2019 MTC Integrated
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Operational performance

KEY FOCUS AREAS

Technology and infrastructure

1

Network coverage
	
and infrastructure

2

Capital expenditure projects

1	Network coverage and infrastructure
Mobile access network

MTC’s single radio access network supports multiple mobile
technologies on a single network. MTC owns much of its tower
infrastructure and carefully considers tower sharing with other
operators and the use of existing infrastructure to reduce
capital expenditure and enable faster roll-out of new sites.
MTC continuously upgrades and improves its network,
expanding its coverage and capacity by building new radio
sites and adding additional high-speed data layers to existing
sites. MTC uses allocated spectrum to its fullest capacity.

Network infrastructure
MTC’s mobile network is built on:
•

2G/GSM technology on all base stations;

•

3G/UMTS on 77% of base stations;

•

4G/LTE on 29% of base stations;

•

4.5G/LTE-A active in selected urban areas; and

•

Huawei’s LTE4T6S to support high speed internet access
and improve customer’s mobile broadband data services.

MTC’s transmission backbone interconnects all its systems,
using microwave, satellite, fibre and lease lines to provide
required redundancy.
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MTC’s mobile network is spread across 824km² of
Namibia’s sparsely populated terrain and geared to
serve the country’s population of 2.5 million people.
Maintaining a network of this scale requires continuous
planning, maintenance and investment to ensure MTC
fulfils its commitment to offering digital access to all
Namibians, while providing quality service to existing
customers.

Geographical network coverage (%)

Key indicators and customer feedback are routinely
monitored and assessed, and improvement interventions are
applied, where necessary. MTC also uses external research
and development capabilities to remain globally competitive.
To prepare for the anticipated growth in demand for data
services, MTC invested in the WACS submarine cable in 2015
to increase internet capacity and connectivity for its business
and customers. Since 2016, MTC has invested in technology
and systems to deliver ICT services, such as direct internet
access, cloud computing and storage, and cloud business
telephone solutions.
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2

Capital expenditure projects

MTC invested N$511.8 million (2018: N$600.5 million) in capital expenditure projects in 2019 to support its vision of being the best digital enabler that meets customer needs.

MTC PROJECT 2020
Project 2020 comprises major capital expenditure projects to improve and grow MTC’s network.

CAPACITY 2020
Expansion of radio access network infrastructure
(through technology upgrades, sector splitting and
spectrum re-farming) to meet customer demand
and ensure quality voice and data services

081EVERY1
MTC embarked on the project in 2017 to expand its national footprint and achieve 100% population
coverage by 2022.
Approximately

835 sites

(close to 100% of MTC sites) will be
expanded as part of this project
Approximately

N$1 billion

over five years

RURAL NAMIBIA

URBAN NAMIBIA

374 sites

150 new sites

N$400 million

over three years

STATUS
On track for completion by September 2020

STATUS
•

Phase 1: 132 rural and urban sites; 119 sites completed and functioning, 13 in construction.

•

Phase 2: 87 rural sites to be constructed in 2020.

•

Higher speed (3G) data capabilities and 900MHz spectrum added to all MTC network sites.
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Fixed services

Digital
transformation

We are seeking alternative revenue growth and diversified customer service in the
internet and broadband (fixed line) services market. We initiated fibre, secure cloud
and hosted PBX value-added services to business customers in 2019.
•

October 2018: Construction of fibre optic network started in Windhoek

•

November 2019: Initiated roll-out of fixed fibre line network after City of
Windhoek approved digging and construction rights

•

Deployed IP multimedia subsystem to support voice and multimedia services
across mobile and fixed terminals

Enterprise business strategy

Launched MTC’s business-to-business (B2B) secure cloud offering after
onboarding the first proof of concept customers

• Retail

•

• Wholesale

Mobile strategy
• Data gifting
• Shared wallet
• 100% coverage

Digital transformation
In line with rapid growth in digital adoption, MTC is upgrading its legacy operations
and business support systems to create a more agile customer centric system
capable of meeting the following business objectives:
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Dual data strategy
Content and digital value-added
services strategy

• Migrate 2G to 3G, 3G to 4G, 4G
to 4.5G
• Implement 5G

•

Digitise customer engagement to improve experience, and support faster
distribution of value-added services

•

Strengthen and maintain the integrity of MTC’s brand through digital channels
and enhanced customer experience

Pricing strategy

•

Deploy outsourced solutions from value-adding partners

• Postpaid value additions

•

Generate a positive return on investment in value-added services

• Loyalty programmes

Device strategy
Affordable smart phones
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Products and services

KEY FOCUS AREAS

By introducing value-added services and fixed services for business customers, MTC is generating new revenue streams to address market saturation in its core offerings.

1	Postpaid and prepaid packages
2 Value-added services
3 Fixed-line services

MTC offers a range of innovative products and services to targeted customer segments.
MTC’s marketing and promotional campaigns leverage the company’s products and
services, nationwide distribution network and infrastructure to respond continuously
to customers’ evolving communication needs and affordability.”

1 Postpaid

Subscribers (’000)

Products and services

New in 2019

•

24-month contracts with voice, data, SMS
with or without a device

•

Launched new products that offer more free data and the
option to add a phone with an extra instalment fee

•

38 different service plans, 10 LTE packages
and 11 business solution packages

•

Launched new Select and Mobiz plans for individuals and
businesses, respectively, offering device leasing options
and sharing of voice an d data units

•

Voice and data roaming in 146 countries

•

55% of customers are individuals and 45%
are businesses

•

2 293 2 323 2 368
2 500 2 227 2 266
2 000

Active postpaid customers (%)

1 500
1 000

17%

500

Voice plans

0

Business solutions

Revamped SmartShare family plans to allow customers to
share units with up to five family members

52%
31%

Data plans

400

•

•

158

161

156

2018

2019

49

52

51

51

385

406

402

346²

2016 2017
Prepaid¹

2018

2019

54

300

Prepaid

Products and services

161

2016 2017
Prepaid

ARPU (N$)
500

1

151

2015
Postpaid

200
100

New in 2019

Baseline service plan (Tango) allows
flexibility and lifetime access to MTC
network provided there is one chargeable
event monthly

•

Seven-day bundled subscriptions (Aweh),
tailored for target segments, with additions,
such as call minutes, SMS and affordable
data

•

Revamped popular Aweh Super subscription, offering
700 minutes, 1 500 SMSs, 3 GB data and 700 MB social
media data; resulted in 150% year-on-year growth in Aweh
Super subscribers
Investigating Aweh Select package with more data, SMS
and voice but without handsets. Customers can choose to
add handsets and other products

0

22%

(2015: 14%)
of prepaid customers use
subscription-based services

374

2015
Postpaid

1

2

4% growth in 2019 in contrast with declining
industry trend.
IFRS 15 impact – A change in the way we
account for postpaid subscription revenue.
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2 Value-added services
Products and services

New in 2019

•

•

Launched Secure Cloud hosted solution for
back-up and disaster recovery

1.45 million

•

Launched Cirrus and Cloud PBX hosted solution
to deliver innovative, cost-effective telephony
solutions to businesses

new subscribers signed up for our value-added
content services in 2019

•

Differentiated products and value-added
services to increase data revenue and retain
loyal customer base
Value-added services include:
>> Content delivered via web, SMS and other
messaging technologies
>> Video content accessible via smartphones

3 Fixed services
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Products and services

New in 2019

•

New revenue stream

•

Launched Spectra Enterprise and Spectra Home offers

•

Gearing up to provide enterprises with fibre
connectivity to the office and home, and valueadded services such as cloud PBX and secure
cloud facilities

•

Spectra product range includes broadband data connectivity for fast and stable internet at affordable prices

•

Fibre will enable secure B2B and business-to-customer service
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Distribution
MTC has an extensive nationwide sales and distribution network that is geared to serve Namibia’s population across widely
dispersed urban and rural areas. A combination of fixed service outlets and an extensive dealership network enables MTC to sell the
right products to targeted market segments through appropriate sales channels.
The dealerships are valued channel partners as they maintain MTC’s brand visibility in remote locations, retain and grow customers,
stimulate airtime sales, increase ARPU in their channel customer bases and empower new smaller dealers.

Prepaid revenue generated
by distribution channel (%)
1%
28%

71%

Distribution network
Mobilehomes

Dealership network

Tango (prepaid dealers)

• 35 retail and service centre outlets
nationwide

• 29 prepaid and postpaid dealers service remote customers in
rural areas

Mobilehomes

• Mobile retail outlet used as a pop-up
store

• Source and sell handsets and airtime and manage customer
acquisition, data and device set-up and activation, contract renewal
and SIM replacements

• Data hub in Windhoek supports datarelated services, set-up and products
• Fully equipped repair centre in
Windhoek

Electronic channels

• Account for the bulk of MTC’s airtime sales
• Distribute to small retailers, including street vendors
• Dispense evouchers

71%
of MTC’s prepaid market is
serviced by dealers
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Branding and sponsorships

Branding

As a leading mobile operator with a strong and respected
brand, we have a high level of market support and have
consistently maintained our market position, retained
customers and grown brand loyalty.

MTC’s brand is purpose driven to enhance customer loyalty, which is measured by an annual customer value management
survey. Our marketing strategy is to ensure that customers choose MTC as their preferred brand.
During 2019, MTC engaged in several high-profile events to showcase its investments and collaborations in technology and
network capacity. These included:

Through aggressive marketing, well-funded promotions,
brand building, sponsorship programmes and valueadded services, MTC leverages its innovative products and
services, an accessible nationwide distribution network and
infrastructure to entrench a strong market and financial
position.

•

The opening of Namibia’s first ICT Innovation Centre in Windhoek to test, build and demonstrate new business and
consumer ICT applications

•

The inauguration of an MTC tower in Soris by the deputy minister of ICT Engelbrecht Nawatiseb. The tower is part of MTC’s
081Every1 network expansions project

•

The opening of the 2019 Tech Innovation Bazaar, which was brought to Namibia by MTC in collaboration with the Namibia
University of Science and Technology Faculty of Computing and Informatics and Local Tech Innovation Hub. The twoday event allowed local entrepreneurs, developers and engineers to showcase their work and present themselves as
marketable assets to the ICT industry

With its tagline “Make the Connection” MTC lives its vision of
being the best digital enabler that meets customer needs. The
company’s marketing activities are supported by promotions,
advertising, sponsorships, events, branding and new product
launches.

Marketing campaigns
MTC ran several marketing campaigns across a range of media, including print, SMS, radio, TV, social media and outdoor branding.
The Aweh O’Yeah campaign created awareness about the new restructured, streamlined Aweh O’Yeah bundles. Aweh Super raised awareness about the increase in data
from 350MB to 3GB for Aweh Super subscribers.

OSmartPhona, the roadshow campaign, was brought back by popular demand with a competition to encourage customers to swap their 3G SIM free of charge for a 4G SIM,
and to buy a 4G-enabled phone with better quality and faster downloads.
MTC launched awareness campaigns to introduce:

prepaid data roaming for customers throughout South Africa on the Vodacom network; and
new Select, Mobiz voice and SmartShare data and voice packages which replaced all existing postpaid products.
As part of MTC’s loyalty reward club, we launched a campaign allowing customers to convert free SMSs into free money for a 30-day period.

•

•

AFCON 2019 encouraged customers to stand a chance to win a trip to the African Cup of Nations in Egypt and watch Namibia’s national football team.
The 2019 Rugby World Cup was a content inspired campaign to encourage customers to stand a chance to win cash and airtime prizes and a trip to the rugby tournament
in Japan.
The 360 degree corporate campaign was launched in September to further entrench MTC’s brand by reminding Namibians MTC is here to facilitate their journey and enable
them to #GetThere.
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Sponsorships
Over the past 15 years, MTC has invested over N$308 million in a range of sponsorships to support
Namibia’s vibrant social fabric and keep the dreams of aspirant Namibians alive.

Distracted driving is one of the main causes of car accidents, with texting while driving
posing one of the biggest dangers to road users. MTC’s Don’t Text and Drive campaign
urged road users to practice safe and responsible use of communications devices on the
road – not just over the festive season, but at all times.

MTC is a leading corporate sponsor in Namibia, and spent N$30.5 million (2018: N$28.3 million) on sponsorships and social
initiatives in sport, ICT, education, health and arts and culture.
MTC is the main sponsor of professional boxing in Namibia, the Namibia Premier League and Dr Hein Geingob (soccer), the
Dr Sam Nujoma Windhoek Marathon, National Sports Commission Annual Awards and the Namibian Annual Music Awards.
MTC also supports educational initiatives, trade fairs and exhibitions across the country.
In partnership with Standard Bank Namibia, MTC launched the Teen Inspirational Summit to focus on inspiring the young
leaders of tomorrow. The aim of the summit is to engage the youth on inspirational topics and allow them to realise their own
dreams through inspiration provided by their peers. The event’s theme was “Connecting with Tomorrow’s Leaders”.

KEY FOCUS AREAS

Customer service

1	Customer retention
2 Improving customer satisfaction
3 Customer development
4 Customer value addition

MTC’s customers are its lifeblood, and the company’s
customer-centric strategy places customer service at
the centre of everything it does.
MTC manages and measures customer relationships
through customer retention, customer development
and customer value addition.

1	Customer retention

We maintain continuous, long-term relationships with customers to retain them and address market saturation and achieve
customer retention by:
•

delivering value-added solutions in partnership with suppliers;

•

being an all-in-one provider of a wide range of simple service offerings;

•

ensuring optimal network capacity and resolving customer complaints 24/7;

•

maintaining and upgrading the network to meet customer demand for voice and data communication;

•

introducing custom-made solutions, including fibre and cloud, using existing infrastructure;

•

monitoring and measuring the quality of customer touchpoints whenever they engage with MTC’s brand;

•

training and developing employees to exceed customer service expectations; and

•

using data analytics to understand and respond to changing customer needs and behaviours.

Artist: Petrus Amuthenu

Don’t let death have the final say. Don’t text and drive.
#DoTheRightThing 			
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2

Customer satisfaction and customer service surveys

Improving customer satisfaction

MTC uses a range of indices to measure and improve customer satisfaction:
•	
Customer value management survey – Our main survey is conducted annually by
an external consultant and assesses customer feedback.
•	
Service quality assessments – A ghost caller quarterly assesses the soft skills and
knowledge of customer service centre employees.
•	
Customer satisfaction surveys – A quarterly survey measures service at all MTC
physical touchpoints.
•	
Mystery shoppers – Quarterly anonymous visitors to Mobilehomes measure service
and employee performance.
•

After-service feedback – Customers can register satisfaction with service at customer
contact centres and Mobilehomes by SMS.

•

 ueueing time relative to service level agreements – The efficiency of responses
Q
to customer requests at all touchpoints is measured.

MTC managers and supervisors monitor these indices routinely and take remedial action if
service is substandard.

Customer value management survey
MTC’s 2019 customer value management survey conducted externally by Ipsos rated our
customers’ perception of the value we offer at 77%. Although this is 1% lower year on year, it
is the highest score in the local industry. Notably, nine out of 10 customers said they would
recommend MTC to family and friends.

Customer satisfaction – MTC customer contact centre
Customer satisfaction – Key account executives
Service quality – MTC customer contact centre

2017

2018

2019

86.6
64.9
91.0

85.0
81.8
88.8

89.1
83.9
88.8

The 2019 customer satisfaction and service quality surveys found that the high ratings
reflected a concerted effort by MTC’s customer contact centre employees and key account
executives to establish sound relationships with customers and prioritise customer
expectations.
While all rating criteria showed satisfactory performance, the contact centre scored highest
in the “friendly and polite service” and “competency and knowledge” categories. Their
83.19% rating in the “response times” category was their lowest score, despite being higher
than previous periods.
MTC key account executives scored highest in the “competency and knowledge” and
“queries successfully resolved” categories. Although they improved their performance in the
“accessibility and contact” category, it was their weakest rating, followed by “feedback on
requests and queries”.
In addition to routine customer management and network investment activities, MTC
increased its focus on improving customer service in specific areas identified by the surveys:
•

Ensuring query turnaround times are within 24 hours and improving after-hours service

2018

2019

•

Increasing communication and customer contact with more frequent engagement

77%

78%

77%

•

Making more resources available during peak times or when key account executives are
unavailable

•

Communicating service changes before they are implemented

Customer development

MTC’s strategic objective to grow the value of each retained customer is achieved by
cross-selling or upselling services that meet customers’ changing telecommunication needs.

4 Customer value addition

MTC is differentiated from competitors by providing various value-added services such as MTC’s
Freemail services, voice mail, balance checks, top-ups and an SMS feedback voting service.
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Customer management surveys (%)

2017

MTC experienced performance improvements across most customer care attributes, with
the exception of response times to customer queries. MTC was the industry leader across
all network quality attributes, particularly in the areas of call clarity, strength of signal (voice
services), and timeous notification of messages (text and voice services). An important takeout from the survey was that price is becoming more of a determinant of customer loyalty,
despite higher value offerings. MTC was ranked as average in price attributes.

3

MTC’s independent customer satisfaction and service quality surveys, which are conducted
quarterly by Service Quality Assessment (SQA) showed ongoing improvements in the level of
customer satisfaction and customer service.

WHATSAPP DOMINATES INSTANT MESSAGES
WhatsApp instant messaging dominated MTC’s network in 2018, accounting for 98%
of all instant messages sent. Other applications such as Twitter, Google’s Hangouts,
Telegram, Skype and IOS push messages competed for the 2% share, according to
CRAN’s telecommunications sector performance review.
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Corporate social investment
As the leading mobile telecommunications operator in
Namibia and a public company, MTC recognises that it
has a responsibility to contribute to social and economic
development in Namibia. MTC allocates 0.5% of its annual
net profit after tax to CSI initiatives and aligns these with its
business strategy, recognising the role of telecommunications
in economic growth and community empowerment.
MTC’s approach to CSI is to be accountable to stakeholders who
participate in its CSI initiatives. In 2018, MTC separated its CSI
and sponsorships, which are now governed by separate policies.
CSI initiatives are managed by the CSI Board Committee.
Marketing and branding (Page 48)
The following key CSI initiatives are underway.

The MTC Namibia national
internship project
Challenge: An estimated 60 000 Namibian students seek
internships every year. Without internships they are unable to
graduate if internships are part of their curriculum, and they
lack work experience and have to be trained to be productive.
Solution: MTC launched a national internship programme
in 2019 to assist institutions of higher learning to get more
students placed and create much-needed job opportunities
now and in the future. The programme will sponsor
160 students annually, totalling 480 over the next three
years and place them in internships or job attachments at
participating institutions in the public and private sectors.
Valued at N$1.8 million, the project is conducted in partnership
with Namibia’s four largest universities and various vocational
training institutions. Each student will receive N$3 000 per
month for transport and living expenses during a three to
six-month internship to ensure optimal benefit from the
learning experience. Corporate Namibia has already placed
145 students in internships, while 20 vocational students
studying bricklaying, plumbing and electrical have been
employed to build 20 schools in Windhoek.

The MTC Buy a Brick support
project
Challenge: With an unemployment rate of over 30% in
Namibia, it is estimated that over 500 000 Namibians live
in informal dwellings. MTC believes that housing is a basic
human right and we have a civil responsibility to contribute
toward these rights.
Solution: MTC participates in the Standard Bank Buy a Brick
initiative to help address this housing shortage in partnership
with the Shack Dwellers Federation of Namibia. The Shack
Dwellers Federation is a non-profit-making organisation that
sells token bricks (erasers) to companies and the public to
raise funds which provide loans for its members to build
homes. Over 8 000 homes have been built because of the
project. MTC and Huawei have jointly sponsored N$10.7
million over the past two years to build 270 houses across
various towns in Namibia, restoring the dignity of many
homeless Namibians. The 270 houses is expected to be
finalised by September 2020.

Drought relief
Challenge: Namibia is experiencing its worst drought ever
recorded. This impacts farmers by reducing water and food
resources for their stock and has a knock-on effect on the
economy and the country’s food supply.
Solution: To support the country’s agricultural sector, MTC
donated N$250 000 to the Namibian Agricultural Union
representing commercial farmers and N$400 000 to the
Namibia National Farmers Union representing communal
farmers. The two unions will use the funds to support farmers
by supplying animal fodder and repairing boreholes.

Environmental care
MTC encourages eBilling by charging extra for printed and
posted invoices.
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Going forward
MTC’s roots are in Namibia where we
have been making the connection for
25 years. We will continue to develop,
improve and perfect this connection
through innovations that bring real
value and economic growth, and
products, services and solutions that
support and delight our customers.
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1
2
3

Navigate the risk environment
Capitalise on opportunities
Maintain financial performance

During 2020 our attention will be on increasing market share (mobile,
fixed network and cloud) and coverage, and on embedding customer
centricity. We will emphasise research and innovation, cement our employee
value proposition and enhance our brand and reputation. All of this will
be done considering the listing process, which will require significant
board and management time."

Navigate the risk environment

Regulatory
Spectrum availability is our primary regulatory risk, impacting our ability to serve customers, grow revenue and enable underserved communities to access the
digital economy – addressing regulatory pressures will be at the forefront of our agenda in 2020. Our focus on customer relationship management will continue as
we navigate the competitive market. This also requires that our networks and systems support quality service, that business continuity plans are in place and that we
manage the growing threat of cybersecurity.
Managing our vendor strategy to mitigate key supplier risk will also be a priority as we go forward. Further focus will be on managing the risks associated with our
strategic growth projects and the risks associated with our operating market, including competition and market disruption, the state of the Namibian economy and
currency volatility.

Enhancing innovation and service delivery through research and development
MTC has established a partnership with Namibia University of Science and Technology to conduct research and build capacity in areas that are driving the fourth
industrial revolution, including:
•

Emerging and disruptive technologies

•

Ubiquitous and pervasive computing

•

Electronic and other engineering disciplines

•

Telecommunication products and services

•

Cybersecurity and forensics

•

Computing and informatics

The partnership will enhance customer experience through innovative products and services aligned with global technology trends.
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Capitalise on opportunities

As we embrace the fourth industrial revolution we will:
•

remain responsive to customer needs now and in future;

•

retain our position as the leading mobile telecommunications provider in Namibia ;

•

continue to develop customer centric solutions through B2B, over-the-top media, internet of things and
cloud computing solutions; and

•

grow our ARPU by migrating customers from 2G to 3G and 4G as we prepare to introduce 5G.

We will compensate for slowing traditional mobile markets by building new growth opportunities:
•

Our entry into the fixed-line enterprise market was initiated by the roll-out of our fixed fibre network in
Windhoek and we will extend the offering to more locations with the support of local authorities.

•

We launched our B2B secure cloud solution after onboarding the first proof of concept customers and will
leverage existing customer relationships to extend it to more SMEs and state-owned enterprises.

•

We are negotiating with other local internet service providers (ISPs) to provide wholesale internet capacity
and infrastructure services to smaller ISPs that provide hosted cloud services to the retail market.

•

Our fixed-line business is forecast to grow to 7% of revenue in 2021.

3

Maintain financial performance

Implementation of IFRS 16 Leases, effective 1 October 2019
Under IAS 17, operating lease rentals were expensed on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
agreement. Under IFRS 16 the following material impact is anticipated:
•

Lease agreements will result in the recognition of an asset representing the right of use of the property and
a liability for future lease payables.

•

Lease costs will be recognised in the form of depreciation on the asset and interest on the liability.

•

An impact on EBITDA and net profit is anticipated, but is still dependent on factors which may vary during
the coming financial year.

Cost efficiency
Cost efficiency remains a critical focus point by ensuring that procurement processes are aligned to business
needs, that we maintain supplier relationships and that we negotiate terms to secure cost savings.

Licence fees
The outcome of the pending court case relating to CRAN licence fees might impact our expenses as the outcome
of the court case is unkown.

Human resource costs
The assessment of our organisational structure may have an impact on our human resources cost, depending on
the outcome of this assessment.
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EXTERNAL
ENVIRONMENT

2

2020 RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
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1 Regulatory pressures
of service (network,
2	Quality
customer service and price)
3 Cybersecurity
4 Key supplier dependency
of strategic
5	Execution
growth projects
•

Prolonged regional drought and economic
downturn

•

Rapidly evolving technology and regulatory
environments

•

Saturated telecommunications market and
declining demand for traditional revenue streams

•

Highly competitive enterprise market

•

Sustained currency volatility and weakness amid
global political and trade turmoil

Annual financial
statements
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act,
No 28 of 2014 to maintain adequate accounting records and
are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual
financial statements and related financial information
included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that
the annual financial statements fairly present the state of
affairs of the group and the company as at the end of the
financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows
for the period then ended, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The external auditors
are engaged to express an independent opinion on the
annual financial statements.
The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance
with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable
and prudent judgements and estimates.
The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately
responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the group and place considerable importance
on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the
directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board of
Directors sets standards for internal control aimed at
reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner.
The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an
acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored
throughout the group and all employees are required to
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the
group’s business is conducted in a manner that, in all
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of
risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the
group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the
group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are
applied and managed within predetermined procedures and
constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information
and explanations given by management, that the system of
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the
group and company annual financial statements. However,
any system of internal financial control can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
The directors have reviewed the group and company’s cash
flow forecasts for the foreseeable future and, in light of this
review and the current financial position, they are satisfied
that the group and company have or had access to adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.
The external auditors are responsible for independently
auditing and reporting on the group and company’s annual
financial statements. The annual financial statements have
been examined by the group and company’s external
auditors and their report is presented on pages 58 and 59.
The annual financial statements set out on pages 60 to 114,
which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were
approved by the Board of Directors on 5 December 2019
and were signed on their behalf by:

T Mberirua

TNZ Muteka
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Independent auditor’s report
To the members of Mobile Telecommunications Limited

Report on the audit of the
consolidated and separate financial
statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate annual
financial statements of Mobile Telecommunications Limited
as set out on pages 60 to 114, which comprise the
statements of financial position as at 30 September 2019,
and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the statements of changes in equity and the
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes and the directors’ report.
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated and separate financial position of the group as
at 30 September 2019, and its consolidated and separate
financial performance and consolidated and separate cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of
the Companies Act of Namibia.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the company in
accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the International
Standard Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (Revised July 2016), parts 1 and 3
of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(Including International Independence Standards) (Revised
July 2018) and other independence requirements applicable
to performing audits of financial statements in Namibia.
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the requirements applicable to performing
audits in Namibia. We believe that the audit evidence we
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have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises general information and the
directors’ responsibilities and approval set out on pages 56
and 57 respectively as well as the integrated report, which is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this
report. The other information does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on
the financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated and separate financial
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated and separate financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated and separate financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
over-ride of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
group and company’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated and separate financial
statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and the requirements of
the Companies Act of Namibia, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial
statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
group and company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
•

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the group or company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated and separate financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the group or company to
cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated and separate financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
and separate financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the
consolidated and separate financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Accountants and Auditors
Chartered Accountants (Namibia)
ICAN Practice Number: 9407
Per: J Cronjé
Partner
PO Box 47, Windhoek, Namibia
5 December 2019
Partners: RH McDonald (Managing Partner), H de Bruin,
J Cronjé, A Akayombokwa, AT Matenda, J Nghikevali,
G Brand*, M Harrison*
* Director

Associate of Deloitte Africa, a member of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Limited.
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Directors’ report
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the
annual financial statements of the company and the group
for the year ended 30 September 2019.

1. Nature of business

MTC conducts business as a registered
telecommunications provider. The principal nature of
the business is to invest in the telecommunications
infrastructure of Namibia for provisioning of total
communication solutions to the customer base.
Although MTC is an autonomous Namibian company,
it also provides international telecommunication
solutions through direct liaison with providers of
telecommunication services worldwide.
The nature of the business did not change during the
year under review.
The following business activities are conducted
through controlled entities:
•
•
•
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Jurgens Thirty Four Proprietary Limited –
Letting of property
Windhoek General Administrators Proprietary
Limited – Dormant
MTC Social Responsibility Trust – Trust
established to harness resources for establishing
and maintaining infrastructure with the principal
focus on the care, welfare and support for children
or orphans who can not rely on the support of
their parents and are homeless. The trustees have
previously decided to unwind the trust form
30 June 2009 onwards. Before this process was
completed the process was halted pending a
change in the mandate of the trust to focus on
larger corporate social responsibility matters. As
at 30 September 2019 the trust had no assets or
liabilities to report (2018: nil).

2.	Review of financial results and
activities

The group and company’s results of operations are
set out on page 62.
The financial position of the group and company are
set out in the statements of financial position
on page 63.
The group recorded a net profit after tax for the year
ended 30 September 2019 of N$797 040 000. This
represented a decrease of 3% from the net profit after
tax of the prior year of N$807 685 000.

Subscriber base – number of active subscribers
Prepaid
Postpaid

The company recorded a net profit after tax for the
year ended 30 September 2019 of N$799 123 000.
This represented a decrease of 1% from the net profit
after tax of the prior year of N$802 355 000.
Group and company revenue increased by 5% from
N$2 498 160 000 in the prior year to N$2 613 665 000
for the year ended 30 September 2019.
The increase in group and company revenue is as a
result of the launch of a number of campaigns and
new service plans to stimulate increased usage by
customers, as well as to entice customers to remain
on the MTC network.
2019

2018

2 367 748
155 890

2 323 424
161 193

2 523 638

2 484 617

3. Share capital

The authorised and issued share capital remained unchanged during the year under review. Details of the authorised,
issued and unissued share capital at 30 September 2019 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Shareholding

2019

2018

Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings Limited

100%

100%

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

224 243
188 430
–
–

–
–
197 400
176 935

412 673

374 335

4. Dividends distributed
Declared 6 December 2018 paid 8 January 2019
Declared 13 June 2019 paid 28 June 2019
Declared 7 December 2017 paid 16 January 2018
Declared 29 June 2018 paid 30 July 2018
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Directors’ report
5.	Dividend declared subsequent to
year end

On 11 November 2019 an ordinary dividend of
N$211 000 000 and a special dividend of
N$400 000 000 was declared, but has not yet been
paid out to the shareholders at the date of these
financial statements.

6. Insurance and risk management

The group follows a policy of reviewing the risks
relating to assets and possible liabilities arising from
business transactions with its insurers on at least an
annual basis. Wherever possible, assets are
automatically included. There is also a continuous
asset risk control programme, which is carried out in
conjunction with the group’s insurance brokers. All
risks are considered to be adequately covered, except
for political risks, in the case of which as much cover
as is reasonably available has been arranged.

10. Directorate

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Directors

Office

Designation

Nationality

Changes

T Mberirua
TNZ Muteka
EE Nashilongo
LP Mbwale
S Galloway
TM Munyika
W Schuckmann
RR Shipiki
T !Gawaxab

Chairperson
Deputy chair
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Non‑executive Independent
Non‑executive
Non‑executive Independent
Non‑executive
Non‑executive Independent
Non‑executive
Non‑executive Independent
Non‑executive Independent
Non‑executive Independent

Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian
Namibian

Appointed 1 April 2019
Appointed 1 April 2019
Resigned 30 November 2019
Resigned 30 November 2019
Appointed 1 April 2019
Appointed 1 December 2019
Appointed 1 December 2019

11. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this
report.

12. Secretary

The Company Secretary is Vincia Cloete.

7. Capital expenditure

For the year under review, capital expenditure
approved was N$990 million (2018: N$1 070 million)
which included capital expenditure carried forward
from the previous financial year. The capital expenditure
incurred was N$511 million (2018: N$600 million),
which was funded out of internal cash generated
from operations, with the main aim to ensure capacity
in the existing network and extensive coverage within
Namibia. The capital expenditure incurred was less
than the approved expenditure, due mainly to
unforeseen delays in capital projects.

Business address: Corner of Hamutenya Ndadi and
Mosé Tjitendero Streets
Olympia,Windhoek Namibia

13. Auditors

Deloitte & Touche will continue in office in accordance with section 278(2) of the Companies Act of 2004.

8. Property, plant and equipment

There was no change in the nature of the property,
plant and equipment of the group or in the policy
regarding their use.

9. Interests in subsidiaries

Details of material interests in subsidiary companies
are presented in the group annual financial statements
in note 14.
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Statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income
Group
Note(s)
Revenue
Other income

4

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2 613 665
4 319

2 498 160
3 960

2 613 665
4 107

2 498 160
3 988

2 502 120
(99 105)
(332 938)
(84 919)
(196 742)
(292 626)
(188 178)
(207 195)

2 617 772
(300 930)
(344 788)
(87 498)
(206 510)
(332 973)
(234 842)
(50 505)

2 502 148
(99 105)
(332 938)
(84 919)
(196 459)
(292 626)
(188 170)
(207 195)

Total income
Changes in inventories of finished goods
Direct costs
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Personnel costs
Depreciation
Amortisation

10
13

2 617 984
(300 930)
(344 788)
(87 498)
(206 698)
(332 973)
(234 850)
(50 505)

Profit from operations
Investment income
Fair value adjustments
Finance costs

4
5
12
6

1 059 742
69 563
(2 099)
–

1 100 417
59 966
5 534
(111)

1 059 726
69 556
–
–

1 100 736
59 957
–
(111)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

8

1 127 206
(330 166)

1 165 806
(358 121)

1 129 282
(330 159)

1 160 582
(358 227)

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

797 040
–

807 685
–

799 123
–

802 355
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

797 040

807 685

799 123

802 355

797 040

807 685

799 123

802 355

797 040

807 685

799 123

802 355

3 188.16

3 230.76

–

–

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Earnings per share
Per share information
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)
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Company

2019
N$’000

9
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Statements of financial position as at 30 September 2019
Group
Note(s)
ASSETS
Non‑current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Loans to employees
Contract assets
Long-term deposit
Current assets
Inventories
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Current tax receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

10
12
13
14
16
21
26

15
16
17
21
18

Liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Deferred taxation
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue
Current tax payable
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

1 161 434
5 665
489 746
–
1 149
20 753
49

1 004 857
7 764
561 578
–
–
–
1 525

1 161 418
–
489 746
3 907
1 149
20 753
49

1 004 832
–
561 578
4 026
–
–
1 525

1 678 796

1 575 724

1 677 022

1 571 961

56 199
1 692
151 604
124 798
–
1 044 858

57 366
–
179 935
–
2 365
879 075

56 199
1 692
151 582
124 798
–
1 044 809

57 366
–
179 911
–
2 345
878 931

1 379 151

1 118 741

1 379 080

1 118 553

3 057 947

2 694 465

3 056 102

2 690 514

25 000
2 284 888

25 000
1 915 005

25 000
2 282 398

25 000
1 910 432

2 309 888

1 940 005

2 307 398

1 935 432

20

274 456

278 504

275 101

279 157

22
23

317 598
142 835
13 170

330 284
145 672
–

317 578
142 835
13 190

330 253
145 672
–

473 603

475 956

473 603

475 925

748 059

754 460

748 704

755 082

3 057 947

2 694 465

3 056 102

2 690 514

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Retained income

Company

2019
N$’000

19
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Statements of changes in equity
Share capital
N$’000

Retained income
N$’000

Total equity
N$’000

Balance at 1 October 2017

25 000

1 481 655

1 506 655

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

–
–

807 685
–

807 685
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

807 685

807 685

Dividends

–

(374 335)

(374 335)

Group

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity

–

(374 335)

25 000

Balance at 1 October 2018 as restated

25 000

1 900 521

1 925 521

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

–
–

797 040
–

797 040
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

797 040

797 040

Dividends

–

(412 673)

(412 673)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity
Balance at 30 September 2019
Note

–

–
25 000

1 915 005

(374 335)

Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy – IFRS 15 (see Note 3)

(14 484)

(412 673)

1 940 005
(14 484)

(412 673)

2 284 888

2 309 888

19

Company
Balance at 1 October 2017

25 000

1 482 412

1 507 412

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

–
–

802 355
–

802 355
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

802 355

802 355

Dividends

–

(374 335)

(374 335)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity

(374 335)

Balance at 1 October 2018 as restated

25 000

1 895 948

1 920 948

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

–
–

799 123
–

799 123
–

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

799 123

799 123

Dividends

–

(412 673)

(412 673)

Balance at 30 September 2019
Note

–

–
25 000
19

1 910 432

(374 335)

25 000

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity
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–

Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments
Change in accounting policy – IFRS 15 (see Note 3)

(14 484)

(412 673)
2 282 398

1 935 432
(14 484)

(412 673)
2 307 398
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Statements of cash flows
Group
Note(s)
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash generated from operations
Investment income
Finance costs
Tax paid

24
25

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of other intangible assets
Net movements in loan to subsidiary
Construction deposit paid
Movement in loans to employees

2019
N$’000

Company
2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2 611 024
(1 278 674)

2 503 641
(1 022 624)

2 611 026
(1 278 692)

2 503 641
(1 022 300)

1 332 350
69 563
–
(311 864)

1 481 017
59 966
(111)
(348 704)

1 332 334
69 556
–
(311 864)

1 481 341
59 957
(111)
(348 704)

1 090 049

1 192 168

1 090 026

1 192 483

(398 574)
1 402
(111 662)
–
(49)
(2 841)

(289 550)
1 755
(247 002)
–
(1 505)
–

(398 575)
1 402
(111 662)
119
(49)
(2 841)

(289 550)
1 755
(247 002)
(338)
(1 505)
–

Net cash from investing activities

(511 724)

(536 302)

(511 606)

(536 640)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid

(412 673)

(374 335)

(412 673)

(374 335)

165 652
879 075
131

281 531
599 861
(2 317)

165 747
878 931
131

281 508
599 740
(2 317)

10
13
26
16

Total cash movement for the year
Cash at the beginning of the year
Net foreign exchange differences
Total cash at end of the year

18

1 044 858

879 075

1 044 809

878 931
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements as set out on pages 60 to 114 have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in compliance with, International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing these annual financial
statements and the Companies Act, No 28 of 2004.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies which follow and incorporate the principal
accounting policies set out below. They are presented in Namibia Dollars, which is the group and company’s functional currency.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the changes set out in note 3.

1.2 Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the company and group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the requirements
of the Companies Act of Namibia. References to the group include the company, unless stated otherwise.

1.3 Consolidation
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the company and all subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities)
which are controlled by the group.
The group has control of an entity when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from involvement with the entity and it has the ability to affect those returns through the use of
its power over the entity.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal.
Adjustments are made when necessary to the annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those of the group.
All intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Non‑controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the group’s interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Losses
of subsidiaries attributable to non‑controlling interests are allocated to the non‑controlling interest, even if this results in a debit balance being recognised for non‑controlling interest.
Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non‑controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured to fair value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the controlling interest. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to time, to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The critical judgements made by management in applying accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements, are outlined as follows:
Revenue recognition
Revenue recognition under IFRS 15 is significantly more complex than under previous reporting requirements and necessitates the preparation and processing of very large amounts of
data and the increased use of management judgements and estimates to produce financial information. The most significant critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty are disclosed below.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Impairment testing
The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such indicators exist,
management determines the recoverable amount by performing value-in-use and fair value calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. When it is not
possible to determine the recoverable amount for an individual asset, management assesses the recoverable amount for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Factors taken into consideration in reaching such an decision include the economic viability of the asset or economic unit of assets.
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Management assesses the appropriateness of the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period and may vary depending on a
number of factors. In assessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues
such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values.
When the estimated useful life of an asset differs from previous estimates, the change is applied prospectively in the determination of the depreciation charge.
Trade receivables
The group assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the group
makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the financial asset.
The impairment (or loss allowance) for trade receivables is calculated using the expected credit loss matrix per portfolio, as required by IFRS 9. The only exception is for individually
significant trade receivables, which are assessed separately and credit losses separately recognised. The matrix is based on historical credit losses, adjusted for national and industry‑specific
economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are amortised over their finite useful lives, The carrying amount of intangible assets is reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment if their is any indication that it
may be impaired.

Sources of estimation uncertainty
There are no key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that management have assessed as having a significant risk of
causing material adjustment to the carrying values of the assets and liabilities within the next financial year, except for the assumptions and key sources of estimation uncertainty with
regard to retention bonuses as disclosed in note 22.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Determination of standalone selling price
Where the group does not sell equivalent goods or services in similar circumstances on a standalone basis, it is necessary to estimate the standalone price. When estimating the
standalone price the group maximises the use of external inputs, methods for estimating standalone prices include determining the standalone price of similar goods and services sold
by the group or using a cost plus reasonable margin approach (which is sometimes the case for handsets and other equipment). Where it is not possible to reliably estimate standalone
prices due to lack of observable standalone sales or highly variable pricing, which is sometimes the case for services, the standalone price of an obligation may be determined as the
transaction price less the standalone prices of other obligations in the contract. The standalone price determined for obligations materially impacts the allocation of revenue between
obligations and impacts the timing of revenue when obligations are provided to customers at different times – for example, the allocation of revenue between handsets, which are usually
delivered upfront, and services which are typically delivered over the contract period. However, there is not considered to be a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying value
of contract related assets or liabilities in the 12 months after the reporting date if these estimates were revised.

1.5 Investment property
Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that are associated with the investment property will flow to the
enterprise, and the cost of the investment property can be measured reliably.
Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.
Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or service, a property. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount
of the investment property, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit
is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Fair value
Subsequent to initial measurement, investment property is measured at fair value.
A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

1.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are recognised if any future economic benefits are expected and those benefits could be reliably measured. Intangible assets consist
of software licences. The amortisation rate used is:

Computer software
Network software
Customer bases
Licences

2019
per annum

2018
per annum

5.88% – 70.59%
5.88% – 33.33%
5.88% – 66.67%
20.00%

8.00% – 70.59%
7.00% – 33.33%
6.67% – 66.67%
20.00%

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangibles with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.6 Intangible assets (continued)
The amortisation period and the amortisation method is reviewed at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful lives of the assets are accounted for by changing the
amortisation period, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. Refer to note 11 for the effect of this review on the current annual financial statements.

1.7 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the cost of such asset. All other borrowing costs are
recognised as an expense when incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

1.8 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition, which are accounted for using the
weighted average cost per item during the financial year. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

1.9 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
•

the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;

•

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

•

a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

Where the group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement it is virtually certain.
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income net of any reimbursements. If the effect of the time value of money
is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 27.

Defined contribution plans
Contributions in respect of defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the year to which they relate.

1.10 Property, plant and equipment
An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group, and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the
capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.
Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost can be measured reliably. Day-to-day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.
Major spare parts and standby equipment which are expected to be used for more than one year are included in property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, except for land, which is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment on a straight‑line basis, over the estimated useful life of the asset to its residual value. Land is not
depreciated. Capital work‑in‑progress is not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use. Depreciation rates used are:

Buildings
Computer and prepaid equipment
Network equipment
Motor vehicles (excluding Land Cruisers)
Motor vehicles
Furniture and fittings
Leasehold improvements
Staff handsets
Projects

2019
per annum

2018
per annum

5.00%
8.28% – 100.00%
4.00% – 85.71%
16.00% – 25.00%
9.60% – 25.00%
5.26% – 26.09%
16.67% – 46.15%
50.00% – 100.00%
50.00%

–
8.28% – 100.00%
4.00% – 85.71%
16.00% – 25.00%
9.60% – 25.00%
5.26% – 26.09%
16.67% – 46.15%
50.00% – 100.00%
50.00%

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is
accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any
such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash‑generating units are written down to their recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre‑tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Each significant component included
in an item of property, plant and equipment is separately recorded and depreciated. The depreciation rate corresponds to the estimated average useful lives of the respective assets. For
an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash‑generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year the item is derecognised.
General and special purpose buildings are generally classified as owner-occupied. They are held at cost and depreciated as property, plant and equipment and not regarded as investment
properties.

1.11 Financial instruments (IFRS 9)
Financial instruments held by the group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Financial assets and liabilities in respect of financial instruments
are recognised on the group’s statement of financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of the financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the instrument within
the time frame established by the market concerned.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as follows:
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•

Financial assets that are debt instruments, are classified based on how they are managed by the business and the nature of their contractual cash flows.

•

All other investments, including trade receivables, are held to collect contractual interest and principal repayments and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.11 Financial instruments (IFRS 9) (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the applicable definitions.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities and includes no obligation to deliver cash or other
financial asset.
Subsequent to initial measurement, these instruments are measured as follows:
•

Trade and other payables (excluding liabilities created by statutory requirements, revenue charged in advance, deferred revenue and reduced subscriptions) are not interest bearing
and are subsequently stated at their nominal values.

Note 30 financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the group based on their specific classifications.
All financial assets previously recognised as loans and receivables under IAS 39 are being recognised as loans receivable at amortised cost under IFRS 9.
The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the group are presented below:

Loan receivables at amortised cost
Classification
Loans to employees (note 16) and loans to subsidiary companies (note 14) are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.
They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding, and the group’s business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.
Recognition and measurement
Loans receivable are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction
costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference
between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
Impairment
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount is reduced directly by the impairment loss, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Derecognition
Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of a loan receivable is included in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables
Classification
Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Trade and other receivables mainly consist of amounts owed to us by customers and amounts that we pay to our suppliers in advance.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.11 Financial instruments (IFRS 9) (continued)
Trade and other receivables (continued)
Recognition and measurement
Trade receivables represent amounts owed by customers where the right to payment is conditional only on the passage of time. Trade receivables that are recovered in instalments from
customers over an extended period are discounted at market rates and interest revenue is recognised over the expected repayment period. Other trade receivables do not carry any
interest and are stated at their nominal value.

Trade and other receivables denominated in foreign currencies
When trade and other receivables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the receivables are determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is then
translated to the Namibia Dollar equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in trade and other receivables (note 17).
Impairment
The group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date.
The carrying value of all trade receivables and contract assets recorded at amortised cost is reduced by allowances for lifetime estimated credit losses. Estimated future credit losses are
first recorded on the initial recognition of a receivable and irrecoverable amounts are based on the ageing of the receivable balances and historical experience. Individual balances are
written off when management deems them not to be collectible. Refer to note 17 to the annual financial statements.
Write off policy
The group writes off a receivable after the receivable has been overdue for more than 90 days and no payment arrangement could be negotiated. Receivables written off are still subject
to enforcement activities under the group recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition
Any gains or losses arising on the derecognition of trade and other receivables is included in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables
Classification
Trade and other payables (note 22), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Recognition and measurement
Trade and other payables are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.
If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method results in the recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss
in finance costs (note 6).
Trade and other payables expose the group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 30 for details of risk exposure and management thereof.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.11 Financial instruments (IFRS 9) (continued)
Trade and other payables denominated in foreign currencies
When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency, the carrying amount of the payables is determined in the foreign currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the
Namibia Dollar equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management thereof are provided in the trade and other payables note (note 22).
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount, which is deemed to be fair value.

1.12 Financial instruments: IAS 39 comparatives
Classification
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
The group determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re‑evaluates this designation at each financial year end. At year
end the group’s financial assets consisted of loans and receivables and financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value determination
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets were determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting
date. For investments where there is no active market, fair value was determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s-length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis; or other valuation models.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the group assessed whether a financial asset or group of financial assets were impaired.
For assets classified as at amortised cost, if there was objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost had been incurred, the amount of
the loss was measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset was reduced
either directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss was recognised in profit or loss at the reporting date.
In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment was made when there was objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the
debtor) that the group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable was reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Impaired debts were derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets were classified as held for trading if they were acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised as finance costs in profit and loss. Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit and loss are designated at their initial recognition date and only if the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.12 Financial instruments: IAS 39 comparatives (continued)
Trade and receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating
expenses in profit or loss.
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable cost. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost where a
maturity date exists, or cost if no maturity date exists.
Subsequently amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses on subsequent measurement are taken to profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

1.13 Leases
The group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Group as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to the accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight‑line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the lease payments and recognised on a straight‑line basis over the lease term.

Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as the assets of the group at fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the group’s general
policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight‑line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

74

navigating our operating environment    our 2019 performance unpacked    going forward    annual financial statements   
corporate information

Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.13 Leases (continued)
Group as lessee (continued)
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight‑line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

1.14 Revenue from contracts with customers
The group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
•

Revenue from the provision of telecommunication services, is recognised when the group provides the related service during the agreed service period (over time).

•

Revenue for device sales to end customers is generally recognised when the device is delivered to the end customer (at a point in time).

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The group recognises revenue when
it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.
When the group enters into an agreement with a customer, goods and services deliverable under the contract are identified as separate performance obligations (obligations) to the extent
that the customer can benefit from the goods or services on their own and that the separate goods and services are considered distinct from other goods and services in the agreement.
Where individual goods and services do not meet the criteria to be identified as separate obligations they are aggregated with other goods and/or services in the agreement until a
separate obligation is identified. The obligations identified will depend on the nature of individual customer contracts, but might typically be separately identified for mobile handsets,
other equipment provided to customers and services provided to customers such as mobile and fixed-line communication services.
The group determines the transaction price to which it expects to be entitled to in return for providing the promised obligations to the customer based on the committed contractual
amounts, net of sales taxes and discounts.
The transaction price is allocated between the identified obligations according to the relative standalone selling prices of the obligations. The standalone selling price of each obligation
deliverable in the contract is determined according to the prices that the group would achieve by selling the same goods and/or services included in the obligation to a similar customer
on a standalone basis; where standalone selling prices are not directly observable, estimation techniques are used maximising the use of external inputs. See “critical judgements in
applying accounting policies” for details.
When revenue recognised in respect of a customer contract exceeds amounts received or receivable from a customer at that time a contract asset is recognised; contract assets will
typically be recognised for handsets or other equipment provided to customers where payment is recovered by the group via future service fees. If amounts received or receivable from
a customer exceed revenue recognised for a contract, for example if the group receives an advance payment from a customer, a contract liability is recognised.
When contract assets or liabilities are recognised, a financing component may exist in the contract; this is typically the case when a handset or other equipment is provided to a customer
upfront but payment is received over the term of the related service agreement, in which case the customer is deemed to have received financing. If a significant financing component
is provided to the customer, the transaction price is reduced and interest revenue is recognised over the customer’s payment period using an interest rate reflecting the relevant central
bank rates and customer credit risk.

Revenue recognition policy prior to adopting IFRS 15 on 1 October 2018
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. The group invoices independent service providers for the revenue billed by them on behalf of
the group, when the deliverables are used.
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Accounting policies
1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.14 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue recognition policy prior to adopting IFRS 15 on 1 October 2018 (continued)
Postpaid products:
•

Revenue from connect packages, which includes activation, SIM cards and phone, is recognised over the period of the contract

•

Revenue from SIM cards, representing activation fees, is recognised upon activation of the SIM card by the postpaid customer

•

Revenue from handsets is recognised when the product is delivered

•

Monthly service revenue received from the customer is recognised in the period in which the service is rendered

•

Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis

•

Unused airtime is deferred in full and recognised in the month of usage or on termination of the contract by the subscriber

Prepaid products:
•

Revenue from SIM cards, representing activation fees, is recognised upon activation of the SIM‑card by the prepaid customer

•

Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis. The unused airtime is deferred in full

•

Deferred revenue related to unused airtime is recognised when utilised by the customer

•

Upon termination of the customer contract, all deferred revenue for unused airtime is recognised in revenue

•

Deferred revenue and costs related to unactivated starter packs, which do not contain any expiry date, are recognised in the period when the probability of these starter packs being
activated becomes remote

Data service revenue:
•

Revenue net of discounts from data services is recognised when the company has performed the related service and depending on the nature of the service, is recognised either at
the gross amount billed to the customer or the amount receivable by the company as commission for facilitating the service.

Sale of equipment:
•
•

Revenue from equipment sales are recognised when the product is delivered and acceptance has taken place.
Revenue from equipment sales to third-party service providers is recognised when delivery is accepted. No rights of return exist on sale to third-party service providers.

Interconnect and international revenue:
•

Interconnect and international revenue is recognised on the usage basis.

1.15 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for
those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.15 Tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)
A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses
can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
•

a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or

•

a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other
comprehensive income.
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Value-added tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except:
•

where the value-added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the value added tax is recognised as part of the
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•

receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value added tax included.

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

1.16 Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency spot rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to profit or loss.
Non‑monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non‑monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on re‑translation of
non‑monetary items is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item.
The functional currency of the group is Namibia Dollar.
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Notes to the annual financial statements
2. New standards and interpretations
2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
In the current year, the group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurements of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting.
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include (a) impairment requirements for financial assets; and (b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by introducing a fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.
Key requirements of IFRS 9:
•

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding principal are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. Debt instruments that are
held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on outstanding principal, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity investments
are measured at fair value at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9 entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

•

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effect of the changes of the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Under IAS 39 the entire amount of the change in fair value of a financial liability
designated as at fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

•

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss
model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. It is therefore no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

•

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been
introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk
components of non‑financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been replaced with the principal of an “economic relationship”.
Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The group has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2019 annual financial statements.
The adoption of this standard has not had a material impact on the results of the company, but has resulted in more disclosure than would have previously been provided in the annual
financial statements.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction Contracts; IAS 18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18 Transfers
of Assets from Customers; and SIC 31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
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2. New standards and interpretations (continued)
2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year (continued)
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:
•
•
•
•
•

Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Determine the transaction price
Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure requirements.
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The group has adopted the standard for the first time in the 2019 annual financial statements, using the cumulative retrospective approach.
The impact of the standard is set out in note 3 changes in accounting policy.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 October 2019 or later periods:

Standard/interpretation:

Effective date: Years
beginning on or after

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019

Definition of a business – Amendments to IFRS 3
Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure initiative
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Disclosure initiative
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation – Amendment to IFRS 9
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 – 2017 cycle
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 – 2017 cycle
Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 – 2017 cycle
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
IFRS 16 Leases

Expected impact:
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Impact is currently being assessed
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Unlikely there will be a material impact
Expected impact has been further discussed below.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 will primarily change lease accounting for lessees and will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements, in particular:
•

Lease agreements will give rise to the recognition of an asset representing the right to use the leased item and a liability for future lease payables. The liability recorded for future
lease payments will be for amounts payable for the reasonably certain period of the lease, which may include future lease periods for which the group has extension options. Under
IAS 17 liabilities are generally not recorded for future operating lease payments, which have been disclosed as commitments, see note 26.
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Notes to the annual financial statements
2. New standards and interpretations (continued)
2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)
IFRS 16: Leases (continued)
•

Lease costs will be recognised in the form of depreciation of the right-to-use asset and interest on the lease liability; interest will typically be higher in the early stages of a lease and
will reduce over the term. Under IAS 17 operating lease rentals have been expensed on a straight‑line basis over the lease term within operating expenses (see note 26).

The group expects that the most significant impact of the new standard will result from its current property and network site operating leases. A high volume of transactions will be
impacted by IFRS 16 and material judgements will be required in identifying and accounting for leases. The most significant judgements in applying IFRS 16 relate to lease identification
and the determination of lease term:
•

For most contracts there is limited judgement in determining whether an agreement contains a lease; however, where the group has contracts for the use of fibre and other fixed lines,
judgement is required to determine whether the group controls the line and has a lease. Where the group has exclusive use of a line it is normally determined that the group can also
direct the use of the line and therefore leases will be recognised for these connections.

•

Lease terms under IFRS 16 may exceed the minimum lease period and include optional lease periods where it is reasonably certain that an extension option will be exercised or that
a termination option will not be exercised by the group. Significant judgement is required in determining whether optional periods should be included in the lease term, taking into
account the nature and purpose of the leased asset and the potential to replace the leased asset.

IFRS 16 is being adopted with the cumulative retrospective impact recorded as an adjustment to equity on the date of adoption.
The group’s current estimate of the primary financial impact of these changes on the consolidated statement of financial position on adoption is the recognition of an additional lease
liability and right-of-use asset at 1 October 2019. Overall, the impact on group retained earnings is expected to be between N$20 million and N$24 million, resulting predominantly
from the lease straight-lining applied currently under IAS 17. Management has not yet finalised the impact on assets and liabilities the implementation of this standard could have.
The group cannot forecast the impact on the consolidated income statement for the year to 30 September 2020 as it will depend on factors that may occur during the year including
new leases entered into, changes or reassessments of the group’s existing lease portfolio and changed discount rates. However, it is expected that a similar amount of lease depreciation
and interest, when compared to the current operating lease charge, would have been recognised had IFRS 16 has been applied in the year to 30 September 2019.

3. Changes in accounting policy

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the adoption of the following new or revised standards.

Application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In the current year, the group has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in July 2014) and the related consequential amendments to other IFRS. IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments and introduces new requirements for (1) the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, (2) impairment for financial assets and (3) general
hedge accounting. Details of these new requirements as well as their impact on the group’s financial statements are described below and in Note 2.
The group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in IFRS 9.

Classification and measurement of financial assets
The date of initial application is 1 October 2018. Accordingly, the group has applied the requirements of IFRS 9 to instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 October 2018
and has not applied the requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 October 2018. As allowed by IFRS 9, comparatives in relation to instruments that have
not been derecognised as at 1 October 2018 have not been restated. Management has assessed the impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the opening balances and have concluded that there
is not any significant impact to retained earnings as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9. No adjustments were therefore processed to retained earnings as at 1 October 2018.
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Notes to the annual financial statements
3. Changes in accounting policy (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)
All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
The measurement requirements are summarised below.
All financial assets have previously been classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39. With the implementation of IFRS 9, all these assets have been classified as financial assets at
amortised cost.

Application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In the current year, the group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (as revised in April 2016) and the related consequential amendments to other IFRS. IFRS 15
replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements
for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC‑31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
IFRS 15 introduces a five‑step approach to revenue recognition. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Details of these new
requirements as well as their impact on the group financial statements are described below and in note 2. Refer to the revenue accounting policy for additional details.
The group has applied IFRS 15 with an initial date of application of 1 October 2018 in accordance with the cumulative effect method, by recognising the cumulative effect of initially
applying IFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 October 2018. The comparative information has therefore not been restated.
The tables below summarise the impact of adopting IFRS 15 and compares financial information for the current period with what it would have been if IFRS 15 had not been adopted.
Impact on profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 2019

Group

As reported
N$’000

Contract handset revenue
Monthly subscription revenue
Connection fees
Changes in inventories of finished goods
Amortisation
Expected credit loss allowance
Deferred tax (P/L)
Profit for the year

109 263
461 320
1 769
(300 930)
(50 505)
(17 519)
(2 767)
797 040

Earnings per share from continuing operations:
– Basic and diluted (cents)

3 188.16

IFRS 15
Adjustments
N$’000
(109 263)
126 114
517
127 156
(134 158)
4 660
(5 558)
9 468

37.87

Without adoption
of IFRS 15
N$’000
–
587 434
2 286
(173 774)
(184 663)
(12 859)
(8 325)
806 508

3 226.03

Company
Contract handset revenue
Monthly subscription fees
Connection fees
Changes in inventories of finished goods
Expected credit loss allowance
Amortisation
Deferred tax (P/L)
Profit for the year

109 263
461 320
1 769
(300 930)
(17 519)
(50 505)
(2 760)
799 123

(109 263)
126 114
517
127 156
4 660
(134 158)
(5 558)
9 468

–
587 434
2 286
(173 774)
(12 859)
(184 663)
(8 318)
808 591
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Notes to the annual financial statements
3. Changes in accounting policy (continued)
Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at 30 September 2019
IFRS 15
Adjustments
N$’000

Without
adoption of
IFRS 15
N$’000

Group

As reported
N$’000

Intangible assets
Contract assets
Deferred tax liability
Retained earnings

489 746
145 551
(274 456)
(2 284 888)

134 158
(97 832)
(12 374)
(23 952)

623 904
47 719
(286 830)
(2 308 840)

489 746
145 551
(275 101)
(2 282 398)

134 158
(97 832)
(12 374)
(23 952)

623 904
47 719
(287 475)
(2 306 350)

Company
Intangible assets
Contract assets
Deferred tax liability
Retained earnings
Impact on opening statement of financial position as at 1 October 2018

Group
Intangible assets
Contract assets
Deferred tax liability
Retained earnings

30 September
2018
N$’000

Impact of
adoption of
IFRS 15
N$’000

1 October 2018
N$’000

561 578
–
(278 504)
(1 915 005)

(141 160)
119 861
6 815
14 484

420 418
119 861
(271 689)
(1 900 521)

561 578
–
(279 157)
(1 910 432)

(141 160)
119 861
6 815
14 484

420 418
119 861
(272 342)
(1 895 948)

Company
Intangible assets
Contract assets
Deferred tax liability
Retained earnings
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4. Profit from operations
Profit from operations for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, among others:
Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

Revenue

2 613 665

2 498 160

2 613 665

2 498 160

Contract

819 057

849 844

819 057

849 844

Connection fees
Usage charges
Monthly subscription fees
Contract handset revenue
Other income

1 769
172 340
461 320
109 263
74 365

2 700
171 687
598 330
–
77 127

1 769
172 340
461 320
109 263
74 365

2 700
171 687
598 330
–
77 127

Prepaid

1 499 458

1 411 915

1 499 458

1 411 915

Starter packs
Usage charges
Other income

8 567
1 483 090
7 801

8 007
1 396 448
7 460

8 567
1 483 090
7 801

8 007
1 396 448
7 460

Roaming income

92 396

99 239

92 396

99 239

Contract
Visitors

31 329
61 067

(6 729)
105 968

31 329
61 067

(6 729)
105 968

120 811
33 061
39 901
8 953

65 693
25 743
37 130
8 596

120 811
33 061
39 901
8 953

65 693
25 743
37 130
8 596

–

–

447

501

Handset and accessories sales
Interconnect income
Bulk SMS revenue
Site rental
Income from subsidiaries
Management fees – Jurgens 34 Proprietary Limited
Expenses
Auditors’ remuneration – external auditors

2 391

2 438

2 354

2 404

Fees for statutory audit
Fees for other services

2 025
366

2 044
394

1 988
366

2 010
394

Bad debts written off
Bad debts recovered
(Profit)/loss on exchange differences
Company secretarial services
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Profit/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment
Amortisation – Intangible assets
Operating lease charges
Premises
– shareholder – NPTH Limited
– unrelated parties
– other
Radio sites and other
Fees for services – consulting fees

21 855
(13 608)
(2 668)
480
234 850
916
50 505

24 510
(12 178)
557
–
188 178
(2 379)
207 195

21 855
(13 608)
(2 668)
480
234 842
916
50 505

24 510
(12 178)
557
–
188 170
(2 379)
207 195

11 708
13 613
294
31 473

22 243
14 697
604
31 741

11 708
13 613
294
31 473

22 243
14 697
604
31 741

57 088

69 285

57 088

69 285

8 509

1 699

8 503

1 699
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Notes to the annual financial statements
4. Profit from operations (continued)
Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

Personnel costs

332 973

– salaries and wages
– pension fund contributions
– medical aid contributions
– staff training
– other staff costs

280 018
16 432
18 106
4 782
13 635

292 626

332 973

292 626

252 998
14 887
13 816
3 718
7 207

280 018
16 432
18 106
4 782
13 635

252 998
14 887
13 816
3 718
7 207

640

593

640

593

Interest income
Investments in financial assets:
Contract assets
Bank and other cash

1 659
67 904

–
59 966

1 659
67 897

–
59 957

Total interest income

69 563

59 966

69 556

59 957

–

111

–

111

Directors’
fees
N$’000

Fees for
other services
N$’000

Subsistence
and travel
allowances
N$’000

Total
N$’000

422
300
405
311
144
148
148

16
–
–
–
–
–
–

47
32
–
–
3
–
–

485
332
405
311
147
148
148

1 878

16

82

1 976

282
172
224
143

–
–
–
–

55
5
–
–

337
177
224
143

821

–

60

881

Number of employees at year end

5. Investment income

6. Finance costs

Trade and other payables

7. Directors’, officers and key management remuneration
Non‑executive directors

2019
EE Nashilongo
LP Mbwale
S Galloway
TM Munyika
W Schuckmann
TNZ Muteka
T Mberirua

2018
EE Nashilongo
LP Mbwale
S Galloway
TM Munyika
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7. Directors’, officers and key management remuneration (continued)
Key management and officers

Allowances
(medical,
housing etc.)
N$’000

Bonuses
N$’000

Subsistence
and travel
allowance
N$’000

Total
N$’000

2019

Salary
N$’000

Fees for
services
N$’000

Key management
G Cloete(1)

11 545
–

–
104

3 293
–

5 588
–

1 682
–

22 108
104

11 545

104

3 293

5 588

1 682

22 212

13 786
–

–
102

3 495
–

3 996
–

1 667
–

22 944
102

13 786

102

3 495

3 996

1 667

23 046

2018
Key management
G Cloete(1)

(1)

Chairperson of the Audit Committee

8. Taxation

Major components of the tax expense
Group

Current
Namibian income tax – current period
Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

327 399

334 616

327 399

334 616

2 767

23 505

2 760

23 611

330 166

358 121

330 159

358 227

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.
Applicable tax rate
Investment property fair value adjustment
Exempt income
Other permanent differences

32.00%
0.19%
(5.50%)
2.60%

32.00%
(0.05%)
(3.75%)
2.52%

32.00%
–
(5.50%)
2.74%

32.00%
–
(3.76%)
2.63%

29.29%

30.72%

29.24%

30.87%
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9. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
From continuing operations (cents per share)

Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

3 188.16

3 230.76

–

–

797 040

807 685

–

–

3 194.07

3 218.13

–

–

797 040

807 685

–

–

–
–

–
–

Basic and diluted earnings per share of the group was based on earnings of
N$797 040 000 (2018: N$807 685 000) and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 25 000 000 (2018: 25 000 000).
Reconciliation of profit or loss for the year to basic earnings
Profit or loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent
Diluted earnings per share is equal to earnings per share because there are no dilutive
potential ordinary shares in issue.
Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share (cents)
Reconciliation between earnings/(loss) and headline earnings/(loss)
Basic earnings
Adjusted for:
(Profit)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment (after tax)
Fair value adjustment

Reconciliation between diluted earnings/(loss) and diluted headline
earnings/(loss)
Diluted earnings
Adjusted for:
(Profit)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment (after tax)
Fair value adjustment

Dividends per share
Interim (cents)
Final (cents)

(623)
2 099

2 379
(5 534)

798 516

804 530

–

–

797 040

807 685

–

–

–
–

–
–

(623)
2 099

2 379
(5 534)

798 516

804 530

–

–

754.00
897.00

789.60
707.74

754.00
897.00

789.60
707.74

On 11 November 2019 an ordinary dividend of N$211 000 000 and a special dividend of N$400 000 000 was declared, but has not yet been paid out to the shareholders at the
date of these financial statements.

86

navigating our operating environment    our 2019 performance unpacked    going forward    annual financial statements   
corporate information

Notes to the annual financial statements
10. Property, plant and equipment
Group

2019
Cost or
revaluation
N$’000

Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000

2018
Carrying
value
N$’000

Cost or
revaluation
N$’000

Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000

Carrying
value
N$’000

Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid equipment
Vehicles, furniture and fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work‑in‑progress

183 337
39 253
71 303
78 195
1 994 752
34 785

(5 595)
(35 248)
(60 771)
(46 242)
(1 092 335)
–

177 742
4 005
10 532
31 953
902 417
34 785

–
38 294
112 179
67 785
1 894 537
102 218

–
(35 072)
(91 943)
(42 997)
(1 040 144)
–

–
3 222
20 236
24 788
854 393
102 218

Total

2 401 625

(1 240 191)

1 161 434

2 215 013

(1 210 156)

1 004 857

Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid equipment
Vehicles, furniture and fittings
Network equipment
Capital – Work‑in‑progress

183 337
39 253
71 303
78 154
1 994 752
34 785

(5 595)
(35 248)
(60 771)
(46 217)
(1 092 335)
–

177 742
4 005
10 532
31 937
902 417
34 785

–
38 294
112 179
67 744
1 894 537
102 218

–
(35 072)
(91 943)
(42 981)
(1 040 144)
–

–
3 222
20 236
24 763
854 393
102 218

Total

2 401 584

(1 240 166)

1 161 418

2 214 972

(1 210 140)

1 004 832

Company
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2019

Land and buildings
Leasehold
improvements
Computer and
prepaid
equipment
Vehicles, furniture
and fittings
Network
equipment
Capital –
Work‑in‑progress

Transfers
N$’000

Transfer to
intangible
assets
N$’000

Transfer to
operating
expenditure
N$’000

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

–

188

–

–

–

(5 305)

177 742

1 124

–

860

–

–

–

(1 201)

4 005

20 236

2 194

(4)

–

–

–

–

(11 894)

10 532

24 788

16 844

(475)

530

–

–

–

(9 734)

31 953

854 393

160 768

(7)

92 454

–

–

1 525

(206 716)

902 417

–

(94 032)

Opening
balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Disposals
N$’000

–

182 859

3 222

102 218

34 785

1 004 857

398 574

(486)

–

(8 171)

(15)

–

(8 171)

(15)

1 525

Depreciation
N$’000

–
(234 850)

Total
N$’000

34 785
1 161 434

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2018

Land and buildings
Leasehold
improvements
Computer and
prepaid
equipment
Vehicles, furniture
and fittings
Network
equipment
Capital –
Work‑in‑progress

88

Transfer to
operating
expenditure
N$’000

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

Depreciation
N$’000

Total
N$’000

(2 230)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(904)

3 222

(1)

28

–

–

–

(10 587)

20 236

9 213

(391)

35

–

–

–

(8 634)

24 788

175 608

(278)

25 505

–

–

41 445

(168 053)

854 393

Opening
balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Disposals
N$’000

Transfers
N$’000

2 230

–

–

–

3 201

925

–

29 210

1 586

24 565
780 166
25 613

102 218

864 985

289 550

–
(670)

(25 568)
–

Transfer to
investment
property
N$’000

–
(2 230)

(45)

–

(45)

41 445

–
(188 178)

102 218
1 004 857
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2019

Land and buildings
Leasehold
improvements
Computer and
prepaid
equipment
Vehicles, furniture
and fittings
Network
equipment
Capital –
Work‑in‑progress

Transfers
N$’000

Transfer to
intangible
assets
N$’000

Transfer to
operating
expenditure
N$’000

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

–

188

–

–

–

(5 305)

177 742

1 124

–

860

–

–

–

(1 201)

4 005

20 236

2 194

(4)

–

–

–

–

(11 894)

10 532

24 763

16 845

(475)

530

–

–

–

(9 726)

31 937

854 393

160 768

(7)

92 454

–

–

1 525

(206 716)

902 417

–

(94 032)

Opening
balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Disposals
N$’000

–

182 859

3 222

102 218

34 785

1 004 832

398 575

(486)

–

(8 171)

(15)

–

(8 171)

(15)

1 525

Depreciation
N$’000

–
(234 842)

Total
N$’000

34 785
1 161 418

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2018

Leasehold improvements
Computer and prepaid equipment
Vehicles, furniture and fittings
Network equipment
Capital ‑ Work‑in‑progress

Transfer to
operating
expenditure
N$’000

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

Opening
balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

3 201
29 210
24 532
780 166
25 613

925
1 586
9 213
175 608
102 218

–
(1)
(391)
(278)
–

–
28
35
25 505
(25 568)

–
–
–
–
(45)

–
–
–
41 445
–

(904)
(10 587)
(8 626)
(168 053)
–

3 222
20 236
24 763
854 393
102 218

862 722

289 550

(670)

–

(45)

41 445

(188 170)

1 004 832

Disposals
N$’000

Transfers
N$’000

Depreciation
N$’000

Total
N$’000

Registers with details of land and buildings are available for inspection by shareholders or their duly authorised representatives at the registered office of the company and its
respective subsidiaries.
Additions were financed from cash resources.
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11. Change in accounting estimate

In the current year the residual values and estimated useful lives of all categories of property, plant and equipment, as well as intangible assets were reassessed in accordance with
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets. This resulted in a change in the estimated remaining useful life of property plant and equipment and intangible assets.
The financial impact of the change in the estimated remaining useful lives was a increase of the current year depreciation charges and a decrease of the current year amortisation charges,
resulting in an net increase in current year profit before taxation of N$20.367 million (2018: profit before taxation increased by N$11.109 million).
The net decrease in the current year charges for depreciation and amortisation due to the change in the estimated useful lives will result in effectively increasing the charges in future
periods and, therefore, effectively decrease profit before taxation for those future periods.
The financial impact of this change in the accounting estimate for the future periods are not disclosed per future financial period since this is considered to be impracticable.

12. Investment property
Group

2019

2018

Valuation
N$’000

Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000

Carrying value
N$’000

5 665

–

5 665

Investment property

Valuation
N$’000

Accumulated
depreciation
N$’000

Carrying value
N$’000

7 764

–

7 764

Opening balance
N$’000

Fair value
adjustments
N$’000

Total
N$’000

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2019

7 764

Investment property

(2 099)

5 665

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2018

Investment property

Opening balance
N$’000

Transfer from
property, plant
and equipment
N$’000

Fair value
adjustments
N$’000

Total
N$’000

–

2 230

5 534

7 764

Investment properties comprise sectional title unit 6 (186m2) and unit 9 (210m2) of United Buildings, Erf 7640, Windhoek. The original cost price of these units were N$2.55 million.
A register containing the information required by paragraph 22(3) of Schedule 4 of the Namibian Companies Act is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.

Details of valuation
The effective date of the revaluations was 31 August 2019. Revaluations were performed by an independent valuer, Mr FA Frank‑Schultz BSc (Town and Regional Planning).
Mr Frank‑Schultz is not connected to the group and has recent experience in location and category of the investment property being valued.
The valuation was based on the income capitalisation method for existing use. This approach is based on the capitalisation of the net income at a market-related rate.
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12. Investment property (continued)
Details of valuation (continued)

The assumptions used, as stated below, are based on current market conditions.
•

Capitalisation rate of 9% (Median of market rates)

•

Stable interest rates, inflation rates and economic situation

•

Demand for property has declined over the past two years

Amounts recognised in profit and loss for the year
Group
2019
N$’000
Rental income from investment property
Direct operating expenses from rental generating property
Change in fair value recognised in profit (loss)

13. Intangible assets

Company
2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

659
(636)
(2 099)

473
(793)
5 534

–
–
–

–
–
–

(2 076)

5 214

–

–

Carrying value
N$’000

Cost/valuation
N$’000

Accumulated
amortisation
N$’000

Carrying value
N$’000

2019
Cost/valuation
N$’000

Group

2018

Accumulated
amortisation
N$’000

Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

12 805
214 300
640 137
–

(3 637)
(134 278)
(239 581)
–

9 168
80 022
400 556
–

8 670
221 442
540 555
296 678

(2 141)
(133 482)
(219 216)
(150 928)

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750

Total

867 242

(377 496)

489 746

1 067 345

(505 767)

561 578

Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

12 805
214 300
640 137
–

(3 637)
(134 278)
(239 581)
–

9 168
80 022
400 556
–

8 670
221 442
540 555
296 678

(2 141)
(133 482)
(219 216)
(150 928)

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750

Total

867 242

(377 496)

489 746

1 067 345

(505 767)

561 578

Transfers
N$’000

IFRS 15 adoption
N$’000

Company

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2019

Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Transfer from
property, plant
and equipment
N$’000

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750

4 694
10 493
96 475
–

–
–
8 171
–

561 578

111 662

8 171

–
–
4 590
(4 590)
–

Amortisation
N$’000

Total
N$’000

–
–
–
(141 160)

(2 055)
(18 431)
(30 019)
–

9 168
80 022
400 556
–

(141 160)

(50 505)

489 746
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13. Intangible assets (continued)

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2018

Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Disposals
N$’000

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

8 346
107 870
238 662
147 893

–
10 968
83 819
152 215

–
(462)
(11)
(2 991)

–
–
22 464
–

(1 817)
(30 416)
(23 595)
(151 367)

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750

502 771

247 002

(3 464)

22 464

(207 195)

561 578

Amortisation
N$’000

Total
N$’000

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2019

Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Transfer from
property, plant
and equipment
N$’000

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750

4 694
10 493
96 475
–

–
–
8 171
–

561 578

111 662

8 171

Transfers
N$’000
–
–
4 590
(4 590)
–

IFRS 15 adoption
N$’000

Amortisation
N$’000

Total
N$’000

–
–
–
(141 160)

(2 055)
(18 431)
(30 019)
–

9 168
80 022
400 556
–

(141 160)

(50 505)

489 746

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2018

Licences
Computer software
Network software
Customer bases

Other information
Additions were financed from cash resources.
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Opening balance
N$’000

Additions
N$’000

Disposals
N$’000

Transfer from
construction
deposit
N$’000

8 346
107 870
238 662
147 893

–
10 968
83 819
152 215

–
(462)
(11)
(2 991)

–
–
22 464
–

(1 817)
(30 416)
(23 595)
(151 367)

6 529
87 960
321 339
145 750

502 771

247 002

(3 464)

22 464

(207 195)

561 578

Amortisation
N$’000

Total
N$’000
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14. Interests in subsidiaries

The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the group, either directly or indirectly, through subsidiaries.

Company
Name of company

Investment
in shares
2018
N$’000

Carrying
amount
of loan
2019
N$’000

Carrying
amount
of loan
2018
N$’000

% holding
2019

% holding
2018

Investment
in shares
2019
N$’000

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

458
–

458
–

3 449
–

3 568
–

458

458

3 449

3 568

–

–

Jurgens Thirty Four Proprietary Limited
Windhoek General Administrators Proprietary Limited

The intercompany loan has no fixed repayment terms and does not bear interest.
Loss attributable to Mobile Telecommunications Limited
Jurgens Thirty Four Proprietary Limited – Aggregate loss

15. Inventories

Network consumables
Subscriber identity modules
Handset and accessories

Carrying value of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell

(2 083)

Group

(202)

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

1 488
9 395
45 316

1 967
10 997
44 402

1 488
9 395
45 316

1 967
10 997
44 402

56 199

57 366

56 199

57 366

10 529

9 644

10 529

9 644

The amount of writedown of inventories recognised as an expense is N$4 361 306 (2018: N$765 158).
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16. Loans to employees

Schedule of loans to employees
Staff loan scheme

Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2 841

–

2 841

–

3 384
(543)

–
–

3 384
(543)

–
–

2 841

–

2 841

–

1 149
1 692

–
–

1 149
1 692

–
–

2 841

–

2 841

–

The loan scheme is available to all permanently employed staff, with the aim to provide funds
to employees who have an immediate need as the result of an emergency. The maximum loan
amount is limited to N$60 000 per employee, with the total loan value limited to N$3 million
per annum. The loans are interest free, repayable in equal instalments over 24 months. Loans
are secured by the employees’ pension fund value equal to the loan amount.
Loans to employees
Advances
Repayments

Split between non‑current and current portions
Non‑current assets
Current assets

Exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the loans as presented above.
At 30 September 2019 no loans were in default and due to security provided by employees, the group assesses that the expected credit loss as trivial and have therefore not raised any
expected credit loss. The group continues to assess this position on a regular basis.

Fair value of loans to employees
The fair value of loans to employees approximates their carrying amounts.
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17. Trade and other receivables

Interconnect debtors
Customers to the mobile network after provisions
Other receivables
Non‑financial instruments:
Prepayments and deposits

Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

738
96 910
18 807

1 589
126 634
14 114

738
96 910
18 785

1 589
126 634
14 090

35 149

37 598

35 149

37 598

Total trade and other receivables

151 604

179 935

151 582

179 911

Split between non‑current and current portions
Current assets

151 604

179 935

151 582

179 911

Financial instrument and non‑financial instrument components of trade
and other receivables
At amortised cost
Non‑financial instruments

116 455
35 149

142 337
37 598

116 433
35 149

142 313
37 598

151 604

179 935

151 582

179 911

Exposure to credit risk
Trade receivables inherently expose the group and company to credit risk, being the risk that the group or company will incur financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they
fall due.
In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults, the group has clear policies for onboarding new customers and only deal with reputable customers with consistent payment
histories. It is the group’s policy that all customers who which to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also obtained
when appropriate. Customer credit limits are in place and are reviewed and approved through credit management procedures. The exposure to credit risk and the creditworthiness of
customers, is continuously monitored.
There have been no significant changes in the credit risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.
Trade receivables arise from both wholesale and retail sales. The customer base for retail trade is large and widespread, with a result that there is no specific significant concentration of
credit risk from these trade receivables. Wholesale trade, while also large and widespread, is more concentrated. Wholesale customers, however, due to the volumes of transactions, are
managed on either a cash basis or with sufficient collateral in place to secure the outstanding amounts.
A loss allowance is recognised for all trade receivables, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2018: IAS 39), and is monitored at the end of each reporting period. In addition
to the loss allowance, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under liquidation. Trade
receivables which have been written off are handed over to an external debt collector and registered with a credit bureau for default.
The group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables by applying the simplified approach, which is prescribed by IFRS 9 for all exposures other than contract assets for products
with devices only. In accordance with this approach, the loss allowance on trade receivables is determined as the lifetime expected credit losses on trade receivables. These lifetime
expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix, which is presented on the following page. The provision matrix has been developed by making use of past default
experience of debtors, but also incorporates forward looking information and general economic conditions of the industry as at the reporting date.
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17. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)

The estimation techniques explained have been applied for the first time in the current financial period, as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9. Trade receivables were previously impaired
only when there was objective evidence that the asset was impaired. The impairment was calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the expected
future cash flows.
The expected credit loss allowance is determined as follows:
Group

Expected credit loss rate:
Customers to the mobile network
Less than 30 days past due: 1%
31 – 60 days past due: 1%
61 – 90 days past due: 2%
More than 90 days past due: 96%
Contract customers under IFRS 15 (see note 21)
Not past due: 4.4%
Fixed and cloud services
Less than 30 days past due: 1%
31 – 60 days past due: 1%
61 – 90 days past due: 2%
More than 90 days past due: 96%
Roaming debtors
Not past due: 0.35%
Less than 30 days past due: 0.82%
31 – 60 days past due: 1.58%
61 – 90 days past due: 17.15%
91 – 120 days past due: 11.21%
More than 120 days past due: 51.02%
Total

96

2019
Estimated
gross carrying
amount
at default
N$’000

2019
Loss allowance
(Lifetime
expected credit
loss)
N$’000

70 334
13 544
2 328
8 091

952
160
35
7 764

94 297

8 911

152 458

6 907

143
112
119
182

2
1
2
175

556

180

6 860
2 707
436
276
223
2 737

24
22
7
47
25
1 396

13 239

1 521

260 550

17 519
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17. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)
Company

Expected credit loss rate:
Customers to the mobile network
Less than 30 days past due: 1%
31 – 60 days past due: 1%
61 – 90 days past due: 2%
More than 90 days past due: 96%
Contract customers under IFRS 15 (see note 21)
Not past due: 4.4%
Fixed and cloud services
Less than 30 days past due: 1%
31 – 60 days past due: 1%
61 – 90 days past due: 2%
More than 90 days past due: 96%
Roaming debtors
Not past due: 0.35%
Less than 30 days past due: 0.82%
31 – 60 days past due: 1.58%
61 – 90 days past due: 17.15%
91 – 120 days past due: 11.21%
More than 120 days past due: 51.02%
Total

2019
Estimated
gross carrying
amount
at default
N$’000

2019
Loss allowance
(Lifetime
expected credit
loss)
N$’000

70 334
13 544
2 328
8 091

952
160
35
7 764

94 297

8 911

152 458

6 907

143
112
119
182

2
1
2
175

556

180

6 860
2 707
436
276
223
2 737

24
22
7
47
25
1 396

13 239

1 521

260 550

17 519
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17. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Reconciliation of loss allowances

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses) for trade and other receivables:
Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

Opening balance in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement

(12 130)

Opening balance in accordance with IFRS 9
Provision raised for impairment on trade receivables
Provisions reversed/utilised

(12 130)
(27 244)
21 855

(13 170)

(12 130)

(13 170)

(13 170)
(23 470)
24 510

(12 130)
(27 244)
21 855

(13 170)
(23 470)
24 510

Closing balance

(17 519)

(12 130)

(17 519)

(12 130)

106 274
10 181

127 330
15 007

106 252
10 181

127 306
15 007

116 455

142 337

116 433

142 313

671

1 060

671

1 060

15.169

14.152

15.169

14.152

Trade receivables are generally on 30 – 60 day terms.

Exposure to currency risk
The net carrying amounts, in Namibia Dollar, of trade and other receivables, excluding
non‑financial instruments, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have
been presented in Namibia Dollar by converting the foreign currency amount at the closing
rate at the reporting date.

Namibia Dollar amount
Namibia Dollar
US Dollar

Foreign currency amount
US Dollar
Namibia Dollar per unit of foreign currency:
US Dollar
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17. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following information presents the sensitivity of the group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to with regards to trade and other receivables. The
sensitivity rate is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated trade and other receivables and adjusts their translation at the reporting date.
No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.
Group
Increase or decrease in rate
Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 5% (2018: 5%)

2019
Increase

2018
Decrease

(509)

509

Increase

Decrease

(750)

750

Fair value of trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts.
Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

97 067
947 791

71 638
807 437

97 018
947 791

71 494
807 437

1 044 858

879 075

1 044 809

878 931

18. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances
Short‑term deposits

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash held by the group and short‑term bank deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximate their fair value.

Exposure to currency risk
The group is exposed to currency risk related to certain bank accounts which are denominated in a foreign currency.
Namibia Dollar amount
Namibia Dollar
US Dollar
Euro

1 026 487
17 811
560

858 185
20 644
246

1 026 438
17 811
560

858 041
20 644
246

1 044 858

879 075

1 044 809

878 931

1 174
34

1 459
15

1 174
34

1 459
15

15.169
16.545

14.152
16.450

15.169
16.545

14.152
16.450

The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:
Foreign currency amount
US Dollar
Euro
Namibia Dollar per unit of foreign currency:
US Dollar
Euro
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18. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)
The following analysis presents the sensitivity of the group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to with regards to cash and cash equivalents. The sensitivity
rate is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated cash and cash equivalents and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. No changes
were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.
Group and company
Increase or decrease in rate

Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 5% (2018: 5%)
Euro 5% (2018: 5%)

2019
Increase

2018
Decrease

Increase

Decrease

(891)
(28)

891
28

(1 032)
(12)

1 032
12

(919)

919

(1 044)

1 044

19. Share capital

Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

Authorised
25 000 000 ordinary shares of N$1.00 each

25 000

25 000

25 000

25 000

Issued
25 000 000 ordinary shares of N$1.00 each

25 000

25 000

25 000

25 000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

The movement on the deferred taxation account is as follows:
Balance at beginning of year
Implementation of IFRS 15 through retained earnings
Taxation recognised in profit or loss

(278 504)
6 815
(2 767)

(255 000)
–
(23 504)

(279 157)
6 815
(2 759)

(255 547)
–
(23 610)

At end of year

(274 456)

(278 504)

(275 101)

(279 157)

50 354
10 172
8 269
5 558

51 013
9 584
6 269
–

50 354
10 172
8 269
5 558

51 013
9 584
6 269
–

20. Deferred taxation

Group

Company

Comprising
Deferred income tax assets
Income received in advance
Straight-lining of leases
Leave pay and severance pay accrual
IFRS 15 Contracts with Customers

100

Deferred taxation balance from temporary differences other than unused tax losses

74 353

66 866

74 353

66 866

Total deferred taxation asset

74 353

66 866

74 353

66 866
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20. Deferred taxation (continued)

Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

Deferred income tax liabilities
Capital allowances
Inventories
Prepayments
Unrealised forex loss
Expected credit loss allowance

(335 357)
(476)
(10 230)
(812)
(1 934)

(333 159)
(630)
(11 018)
(563)
–

(336 002)
(476)
(10 230)
(812)
(1 934)

(333 812)
(630)
(11 018)
(563)
–

Total deferred taxation liability

(348 809)

(345 370)

(349 454)

(346 023)

Deferred taxation liability
Deferred taxation asset

(348 809)
74 353

(345 370)
66 866

(349 454)
74 353

(346 023)
66 866

Total net deferred taxation liability

(274 456)

(278 504)

(275 101)

(279 157)

145 551

–

145 551

–

97 832
47 719

–
–

97 832
47 719

–
–

145 551

–

145 551

–

119 861
32 597
(6 907)

–
–
–

119 861
32 597
(6 907)

–
–
–

145 551

–

145 551

–

20 753
124 798

–
–

20 753
124 798

–
–

145 551

–

145 551

–

21. Contract assets
Total contract assets

Summary of contract assets
Products with bundled devices and services
Products with devices only

Reconciliation of contract assets
Effect of cumulative effect method on adoption of IFRS 15
Net renewals, activations and terminations during the year
Expected credit loss allowance (see Note 17)

Split between non‑current and current portions
Non‑current assets
Current assets
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21. Contract assets (continued)

Contract assets are recognised to the extent that performance obligations have been met by the group and revenue has been recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue, but for
which the consideration is not yet receivable in terms of contractual agreement. Contract assets also include N$47 719 related to 24-month phone financing contracts. When the right
to consideration becomes unconditional in terms of the contractual agreement, the contract asset is transferred to trade receivables.

Exposure to credit risk
Contract assets inherently expose the group to credit risk, being the risk that the group will incur financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.
Refer to note 17 for the expected credit loss allowance disclosure.

22. Trade and other payables

Financial instruments:
Trade payables
Accruals
Other payables
Non‑financial instruments:
VAT

Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

101 657
174 003
3 268

147 883
162 520
2 378

101 615
173 951
3 268

147 839
162 457
2 378

38 670

17 503

38 744

17 579

317 598

330 284

317 578

330 253

Payables are non‑interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30‑day terms.

Retention bonus scheme
The company accumulates 13% of a staff member’s average cost-to-company package over
five years of service and pays 70% and 30% of the accumulated value out to that employee
after the fifth and seventh year of service respectively, provided the employee reached a
performance score of 70% or higher in each of the five years. As this expense is dependent
upon an uncertain future occurrence, the accrual made reflects only an estimate.
The retention bonus cycle repeats itself from year six.
The reconciliation between the opening balance and closing balance of the
retention bonus included in accruals is as follows:
Opening balance at beginning of the year
Paid during the year
Accrued for current year

102

2 397
(2 397)
3 322

4 853
(4 932)
2 476

2 397
(2 397)
3 322

4 853
(4 932)
2 476

3 322

2 397

3 322

2 397

navigating our operating environment    our 2019 performance unpacked    going forward    annual financial statements   
corporate information

Notes to the annual financial statements
22. Trade and other payables (continued)
Exposure to currency risk

The group is exposed to currency risk related to trade payables because certain transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. Exchange rate exposures are managed within
approved policy parameters utilising foreign forward exchange contracts where necessary. The currencies in which the group deals primarily are US Dollars, Euros and Pound Sterling.
The net carrying amounts, in Namibia Dollar of trade and other payables, excluding non‑financial instruments, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been
presented in Namibia Dollar by converting the foreign currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Group

Namibia Dollar amount
Namibia Dollar
US Dollar
Euro
CHF
GBP

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

266 826
9 182
2 893
–
27

245 301
57 628
3 938
5 875
47

266 732
9 182
2 893
–
27

245 200
57 628
3 928
5 875
47

278 928

312 781

278 834

312 674

605
174
–
1

4 072
239
405
3

605
174
–
1

4 072
239
405
3

15.169
16.545
14.506
18.660

14.152
16.453
14.506
18.477

15.169
16.545
14.506
18.660

14.152
16.453
14.506
18.477

The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:
Foreign currency amount
US Dollar
Euro
CHF
GBP
The following closing exchange rates were applied to translate trade receivables at reporting date:
Namibia Dollar per unit of foreign currency:
US Dollar
Euro
CHF
GBP
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22. Trade and other payables (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following information presents the sensitivity of the group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to with regards to trade and other payables. The
sensitivity rate is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated trade and other payables and adjusts their translation at the reporting date.
No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.
Group
Increase or decrease in rate
Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 5% (2018: 5%)
Euro 5% (2018: 5%)
CHF 5% (2018: 5%)
GBP 5% (2018: 5%)

2019
Increase
N$’000

2019
Decrease
N$’000

2018
Increase
N$’000

2018
Decrease
N$’000

(459)
(145)
–
(1)

459
145
–
1

(2 881)
(197)
(294)
(2)

2 881
197
294
2

(605)

605

(3 374)

3 374

Fair value of trade and other payables
The fair value of trade and other payables approximates their carrying amounts.

23. Deferred revenue

Group
2019
N$’000

At the beginning of the year
Airtime sold during the year
Airtime utilised during the year

104

145 672
1 831 642
(1 834 479)

Company
2018
N$’000
157 688
1 570 363
(1 582 379)

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

145 672
1 831 642
(1 834 479)

157 688
1 570 363
(1 582 379)

At the end of the year

142 835

145 672

142 835

Current liabilities

142 835

145 672

142 835

145 672
145 672

Total

142 835

145 672

142 835

145 672
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24. Cash generated from operations

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
(Profit)/loss on realised foreign exchange
Interest income
Finance costs
Fair value adjustments
Operating expenditure transferred from work in progress
Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue

Group
2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

1 127 206

1 165 806

1 129 282

1 160 582

285 355
(916)
(131)
(69 563)
–
2 099
15

395 373
2 379
2 317
(59 966)
111
(5 534)
45

285 347
(916)
(131)
(69 556)
–
–
15

395 365
2 379
2 317
(59 957)
111
–
45

1 167
28 331
(25 690)
(12 686)
(2 837)

55 669
5 478
–
(68 645)
(12 016)

1 167
28 329
(25 690)
(12 676)
(2 837)

55 669
5 481
–
(68 635)
(12 016)

1 332 350

25. Tax paid

Balance at beginning of the year
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
Balance at the end of the year

Company

2019
N$’000

1 481 017

1 332 334

1 481 341

2 365
(327 399)
13 170

(11 723)
(334 616)
(2 365)

2 345
(327 399)
13 190

(11 743)
(334 616)
(2 345)

(311 864)

(348 704)

(311 864)

(348 704)

44 751
15 225
203 787

541 119
14 069
–

44 751
15 225
203 787

541 119
14 069
–

263 763

555 188

263 763

555 188

676 272
256 480
98 605

239 910
164 233
208 569

676 272
256 480
98 605

239 910
164 233
208 569

1 031 357

612 712

1 031 357

612 712

26. Commitments

Capital commitments

Approved and contracted for
Network expansions
Retail stock
Other – property, plant and equipment

Approved and not contracted for
Network expansions
Retail stock
Other – property, plant and equipment

This expenditure will be financed from cash generated from normal business operations.
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26. Commitments (continued)

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Future minimum rentals payable under non‑cancellable operating leases are as follows
as of 30 September:
Group and company – 2019
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years

Premises
Radio sites
N$’000

Offices/shops
N$’000

Total
N$’000

30 594
111 909
125 883

22 455
38 354
6 420

53 049
150 263
132 303

268 386

67 229

335 615

27 002
118 212
64 141

33 213
132 714
27 141

60 215
250 926
91 282

209 355

193 068

402 423

Group and company – 2018
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years

Other commitments
Construction deposits
At 30 September 2019 the group had entered into commitments relating to servers for the SS7 Firewall project. Deposits paid before 30 September 2019 relating to work‑in‑progress
on this project amounted to N$48 692. The final payment of N$113 615 for the project will be made upon delivery of the servers during the 2020 financial year.
The construction deposit balance at 30 September 2018 of N$1.525 million related to payments for the network expansion project as well as the 081Everyone projects. The phase of
the projects to which these payments related were completed in the 2019 financial year and the full deposits were transferred to the relevant capital account before 30 September 2019.

27. Contingencies
Licence fees

The directors note that the supreme court has ruled the current licence fee regime unconstitutional and not enforceable from the date of the concurring High Court ruling on the matter.
The regulator has, subsequent to the ruling by the Supreme Court, lodged a fresh action on the same matter in the High Court. Until such time that the High Court has made a ruling in
terms of the fresh action, the current ruling of the Supreme Court stands. The directors fully expect the regulator to implement the licence fee regime, once final ruling is made, to be
implemented in the financial year when this matter is concluded.
The directors note that the company has also lodged a dispute with the regulator regarding the invoicing for licence fees for the numbering plan in use by the company as the invoicing
was not done in terms of the current regulations. Due to the dispute with the regulator, licence fees to the value of N$18.8 million was not provided for in the current year financial
statements.

Other contingencies
The directors note that the CRAN ruling requiring the group to list by 5 May 2019 has been amended, with an effective listing date of 5 September 2020. Management anticipates that
this revised timeline will be sufficient to comply with the CRAN ruling.
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28. Retirement benefit information

The company operates a defined contribution scheme, the MTC Pension Fund (registration number 25/7/7/390), providing benefits based on the contributions of an employee and is
administered by Alexander Forbes. This fund is registered under and governed by the Namibian Pension Funds Act, 1956, as amended. The fund will be valued every two years. The
members of the fund can elect to contribute 7% or the maximum of 14%, which will be matched by the employer by the % elected of the members’ pensionable salaries. All contributions
of the company are charged to profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. Employer contributions for the year are disclosed in note 4. The fair value of the
fund’s investments as at the funds’ year end at 31 March 2019 were N$229 077 875 (2018: N$199 496 197).
In addition to the pension fund, the company also operates a group life scheme covering 100% of the total number of employees in cases of death and/or permanent disability.
The group does not currently bear, and is in no way contractually liable for, the cost of funding post‑retirement medical aid benefits. The contribution to the medical aid fund should an
employee choose to continue membership of the scheme on retirement, is payable by the retiree.
A statutory actuarial valuation was performed on 31 March 2019 and the valuation reported that the fund was in a sound financial position.

29. Bank overdraft

The company has unsecured overdraft facilities at First National Bank Namibia totalling N$1 million (2018: N$1 million). The electronic funds transfer (same-day service) at
Standard Bank Namibia is N$5 million (2018: N$5 million), while the debit and credit run facility is N$40 million (2018: N$30 million from Standard Bank Namibia) from First
National Bank Namibia.
The group has an presettlement forward exchange contact (FEC) facility at First National Bank Namibia of N$20 million (2018: N$20 million) and an FEC trading facility at Standard Bank
Namibia of N$40 million (2018: N$40 million).

30. Financial instruments and risk management
Financial risk management
Overview
The group is exposed mainly to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•

Credit risk

•

Liquidity risk

•

Market risk (currency risk)

The group’s principal financial liabilities comprise trade payables. The group has no interest-bearing borrowings. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the
group’s operations. The group has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short‑term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.
There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the types of financial risks faced by the group, the approach to the measurement
of these financial risks or the objectives, policies and processes for managing these financial risks.
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised on the following page.

2019 MTC Integrated
Annual Report

107

an overview of our 2019 integrated report    a snapshot of MTC    how we govern MTC    Chief Executive Officer’s strategic overview

Notes to the annual financial statements
30. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
The group trades only with recognised, credit-worthy third parties. It is the group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
Refer to note 17 for the maximum exposure to credit risk within the group.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits with well-known reputable Namibian
banks, the company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these balances. Refer to note 18 for the
maximum exposure of the group.
There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the group’s exposure to credit risk, the approach to the measurement or the
objectives, policies and processes for managing this risk.

Liquidity risk
These risks may occur if the sources of funding, including operating cash flows, credit lines and cash flows obtained from financing operations, do not match with the group’s financing
needs, such as operating and financing outflows, investments, shareholder remuneration and debt repayments.
The group has minimised its risk of illiquidity by ensuring that it has adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing capacity, as well as forecasting and managing available cash
reserves.
The group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using monthly management accounts and general cash flow projections.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities at 30 September based on undiscounted contractual amounts.

Group – 2019
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Less than
1 year
N$’000

Total
N$’000

Carrying
amount
N$’000

22

278 928

278 928

278 928

22

312 781

312 781

312 781

22

278 834

278 834

278 834

22

312 674

312 674

312 674

Note(s)

Group – 2018
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Company – 2019
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Company – 2018
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
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30. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The group incurs currency risk as a result of the following transactions which are denominated in a currency other than Namibia Dollar or South African Rand: purchases of equipment,
consulting fees and borrowings. The currencies which primarily give rise to currency risk are the US Dollar (USD); Euro (EU); Swiss Francs (CHF) and British Pound (GBP). At
30 September 2019, the group has not hedged any (2018: none) of its foreign currency creditors for which firm commitments existed at the reporting date.
Details of foreign currency risk exposure are contained in the relevant notes throughout these financial statements.
For Trade and other receivables, refer to note 17.
For Cash and cash equivalents, refer to note 18.
For Trade and other payables, refer to note 22.

Capital risk management
The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
The capital structure of the group consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity.
The group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may issue new
shares or obtain additional funding from its shareholders.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2018.
The group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
The capital structure and gearing ratio of the group at the reporting date was as follows:
Group
Note(s)
Trade and other payables
Cash and cash equivalents
Net borrowings
Equity
Gearing ratio

22
18

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

317 598
1 044 858

330 284
879 075

317 578
1 044 809

330 253
878 931

727 260

548 791

727 231

548 678

2 309 888

1 940 005

2 307 398

1 935 432

31%

28%

32%

28%
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30. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Capital risk management (continued)
Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial assets
Group – 2019
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract assets

Note(s)
16
17
18
21

Amortised
cost
N$’000

Total
N$’000

2 841
116 455
1 044 858
145 551

2 841
116 455
1 044 858
145 551

1 309 705

1 309 705

142 337
879 075

142 337
879 075

1 021 412

1 021 412

3 907
2 841
116 433
1 044 809
145 551

3 907
2 841
116 433
1 044 809
145 551

1 313 541

1 313 541

4 026
142 313
878 931

4 026
142 313
878 931

1 025 270

1 025 270

Group – 2018
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

17
18

Company – 2019
Investments in subsidiaries
Loans to employees
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Contract assets

14
16
17
18
21

Company – 2018
Investments in subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
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30. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Capital risk management (continued)

Categories of financial instruments (continued)
Categories of financial liabilities
Group – 2019

Amortised
cost
N$’000

Total
N$’000

22

278 928

278 928

22

312 781

312 781

22

278 834

278 834

22

312 674

312 674

Note(s)

Trade and other payables
Group – 2018
Trade and other payables
Company – 2019
Trade and other payables
Company – 2018
Trade and other payables

31. Fair value information

The fair values of all financial instruments are substantially the same as the carrying values reflected in the statements of financial positions, for both the group and the company.

Fair value hierarchy
The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at measurement date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Valuation techniques:
Forward contracts are valued by marking to market the forward contract with the exchange rate prevalent on each day in an active market.
Trade and other receivables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals their fair value.
Trade and other payables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals their fair value.
Long-term liabilities are discounted at the effective discount rate applicable to the risks associated with the financial instruments.
As at 30 September 2019, the group did not hold any financial instruments measured at fair value (2018: Nil).
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32. Related parties

Related party relationships exist between the company and its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiary, shareholders and key management. All transactions with related parties occurred under
terms no less favourable than those arranged with third parties.

Subsidiaries
Details of income and expenditure relating to subsidiaries and investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 4 and 14 respectively. No interest is charged on loans to subsidiaries.

Key management
The key management personnel of the company comprise the Executive Committee and the general managers. Amounts paid to key management are disclosed under directors’, officers’
emoluments and key management remuneration in note 7.

Shareholder
The shareholder of the company is noted in the directors’ report. The only significant transactions related to the shareholder is rentals paid to the shareholder and dividends.

Fellow subsidiaries
The group has an interconnect agreement with fellow subsidiaries regarding call traffic between the two companies and rent fibre-optic lines for its operations from a fellow subsidiary.
Additional transactions include courier, telephone and fax services, sale of prepaid products and maintenance of the WACS cable.

Ultimate controlling party
The group is required to disclose, in terms of IAS 24 – Related Parties, the ultimate controlling party and any transactions with such ultimate controlling party and any other entities which
are also controlled by the same ultimate controlling party, but which is not a subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the group.
Transactions with such other entities include licensing fees for the provision of telecommunication services to CRAN, site leases as well as a lease agreement for broadcasting equipment
in exchange for advertising airtime with Namibia Broadcasting Corporation (NBC) .

Relationships

Ultimate controlling party
Holding company
Subsidiaries
Members of key management
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Ministry of Information, Communication and Telecommunication of the Republic of Namibia.
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings Limited
Refer to note 14
LR Erastus
MJ Smit
PN Kanalelo
T Ekandjo
M Angula
A de Jager
L Tjitandi
P Mushimba
C Mouton
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32. Related parties (continued)

Group

Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

–

–

3 449

3 569

Balance receivable from fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Nampost Courier

6 936
54

4 224
87

6 936
54

4 224
87

Balance receivable from shareholder:
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings

2

9

2

9

Related-party balances
Loan accounts – Owing (to)/by related parties
Jurgens Thirty Four Proprietary Limited

Balance payable to fellow subsidiaries:
Nampost Courier
Telecom Namibia
Powercom

(2 817)
(10 208)
(267)

(9 601)
(10 720)
(212)

(2 817)
(10 208)
(267)

(9 601)
(10 720)
(212)

Related-party transactions
Property, plant and equipment purchased from fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings

4 376
161 560

2 811
–

4 376
161 560

2 811
–

Rent paid to related parties:
Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings

17 170

30 310

17 170

30 310

Lease lines paid to/(received from) fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia

23 211

29 006

23 211

29 006

Postage and courier charges paid to fellow subsidiaries:
Nampost Namibia

5 038

5 377

5 038

5 377

228

431

228

431

Telephone and fax paid to fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Prepaid airtime sales to Nampost Namibia:
Sales
Dealer discount

(327 783)
51 289

(300 142)
48 219

(327 783)
51 289

(300 142)
48 219

Net sales

(276 494)

(251 923)

(276 494)

(251 923)
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32. Related parties (continued)
Group

Related-party transactions (continued)
Net site rentals received from fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Powercom
Net interconnect fees (received from) paid to fellow subsidiaries:
Telecom Namibia
Other transactions:
WACS payment – Telecom Namibia
Consultation fees – NPTH
Subsistence and travel allowance – Ministry of Information Communication Technology

33. Approval of annual financial statements

These annual financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 5 December 2019.
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Company

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2018
N$’000

(11 018)
(12 575)

(8 622)
(10 698)

(11 018)
(12 575)

(8 622)
(10 698)

(7 901)

6 075

(7 901)

6 075

3 723
306
163

6 830
–
–

3 723
306
163

6 830
–
–
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Company secretary and registered address

Joint sponsors and placement agents

Transfer secretaries

Mobile Telecommunications Limited

IJG Securities Proprietary Limited

MTC House, corner Mosé Tjitendero and
Hamutenya Wanahepo Ndadi Streets
Olympia, Windhoek, Namibia
PO Box 23051, Windhoek, Namibia
Registration number: 94/458
Att
Ms Vincia Cloete
Tel
+264 61 280 2000
Fax
+264 61 280 2124
Email vcloete@mtc.com.na
Web
www.mtc.com.na

Member of the NSX
Registration number: 95/505
Fourth Floor, 1@Steps
Corner Grove and Chassie Streets, Windhoek
PO Box 186, Windhoek, Namibia
Att
Mark Spath
Tel
+264 61 383 500
Fax
+264 61 304 671
Email mark@ijg.net

Transfer Secretaries Proprietary Limited
Registration number: 93/713
4 Robert Mugabe Avenue
(entrance Dr Theo Ben Gurirab Street), Windhoek
PO Box 2401, Windhoek, Namibia
Att
Alexandrea Ullrich
Tel
+264 61 227 647
Fax
+264 61 248 531
Email alexandreah@nsx.com.na

Holding company

PSG Wealth Management (Namibia) Proprietary
Limited

Jucticia Building, Block D, First Floor
Independence Avenue
PO Box 3913, Windhoek, Namibia
Registration number: 92/283
Att
Kristofine Itembu
Tel
+264 61 201 2646
Email ltembuk@telecom.na

Member of the NSX
Registration number: 98/528
First Floor, PSG Building
5 Conradie Street, Windhoek
PO Box 196, Windhoek, Namibia
Att
Brian van Rensburg
Tel
+264 61 378 900
Fax
+264 61 285 901
Email brian@psg.com.na

Commercial bankers to MTC

Legal advisors

Namibia Post and Telecommunications Holdings
Proprietary Limited

Standard Bank Namibia Holdings Limited
Corner Werner List and Post Street Mall, Second Floor,
Town Square Building, Windhoek
Private Bag 13177, Windhoek, Namibia
Tel
+264 61 294 2322

FirstRand Namibia Limited
Parkside, 130 Independence Avenue, Windhoek
Private Bag 13239, Windhoek, Namibia
Tel
+264 61 299 8105

Bank Windhoek Limited
Third Floor, Capricorn House
119 Independence Avenue, Windhoek
PO Box 15, Windhoek, Namibia
Tel
+264 61 299 1111

Shikongo Law Chambers
4 Banting Street, Windhoek West, Windhoek
PO Box 96350, Windhoek, Namibia
Att
Mr Elias Shikongo
Tel
+264 61 254 644/5
Cell
+264 81 124 9298
Email ens@mweb.com.na

Auditors and reporting accountants
Deloitte Namibia
Deloitte Building, Maerua Mall, Jan Jonker Road, Windhoek
PO Box 47, Windhoek, Namibia
Att
Mssrs Piquet Fisher/Johann Cronje
Tel
+264 61 285 5009/+264 61 285 5002
Cell
+264 81 633 8876/+264 81 146 3663
Email pfisher@deloitte.co.za
Email jocronje@deloitte.co.za

Nedbank Namibia
55 Rehobother Road, Snyman Circle
Ausspanplatz, Windhoek
PO Box 1, Windhoek, Namibia
Tel
+264 61 295 2432
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